Managing Resources
Income
During the year 2012, the Authority operated with an
income of K434.3 billion of which K386.5 billion was
funding appropriated by Government. The Government
appropriated funding included K120.0 billion for
modernisation reforms. This funding increased by
K120.1 billion in 2012 representing an increase of 45.1
percent from the 2011 level. Income from ASYCUDA
fees was K29.9 billion in 2012 up from K26.1 billion in
2011. Other income amounted to K5.4 billion. Table 1
provides a comparative summary of our operating
income and expenditure for 2012 and 2011.

Authority's recurrent expenditure (81.2%) followed by
operational costs (9.6%), administrative costs (6.8 %)
and Other costs (2.4%).
Staff costs in absolute terms increased by 61.7 percent
from the previous year. This increase is attributed to
high actuarial losses, reported by independent
actuarial consultants, of K115.7 billion in 2012 from
K2.3 billion in 2011. Administrative expenses increased
by 37.1 percent, while inspection and enforcement
costs decreased by 16.6 percent.
Capital Expenditure
In addition to the above operating expenses, the
Authority spent K21.2 billion in capital expenditure

Table 1: Summary of income and expenditure, 2012 and 2011
Income:
Government Funding – Received
Supplementary Funding
Investment Climate Facility
Norwegian Tax Administration
ASYCUDA Income
Other Income
Amortisation of Capital grant
Total Income
Recurrent expenses:
Staff related expenses
Administrative expenses
Operational expenses
Legal and professional fees
Depreciation and amortisation
Results from operating activities
Finance income
Finance costs
Net finance income
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of revaluation reserve
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
Suffice to note that, in 2012, the Authority received
financial support from co-operating partners mainly
Investment Climate Facility (ICF) for Africa (K1.1 billion)
for the implementation of the integrated tax
a d m i n i s t r a t i o n s y s t e m a n d N o r w e g i a n Tax
Administration (K4.7 billion) for capacity building of the
Mining Unit.
Recurrent Expenditure
Staff costs in 2012 accounted for a larger share of the
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2012 (K'000)

2011 (K'000)

386,509,400
4,850,000
1,097,712
4,696,148
29,922,286
5,473,676
1,779,849
434,329,071

266,399,613
7,748,132
1,327,889
26,121,726
3,316,342
1,779,849
306,693,551

(379,492,789)
(32,028,366)
(42,605,578)
(2,229,550)
(11,192,871)
(33,220,083)

(234,699,390)
(23,361,476)
(51,082,739)
(1,759,173)
(10,430,476)
(14,639,703)

3,900,261
(464,108)
3,436,153
(29,783,930)

1,124,701
(84,671)
1,040,030
(13,599,673)

1,920,000

-

1,052,720
(26,811,210)

1,052,720
(12,546,953)

compared to K5.4 billion in 2011. The increased
expenditure is attributed to the acquisition of new
motor vehicles to enhance compliance and
enforcement as well as investment in infrastructure
and equipment.
The detailed financial performance based on Accrual
Basis of Accounting is shown in the Financial
Statements from pages 50 to 85.

Economic Performance

Inflation

Gross Domestic Product

During the review period, the inflation rate remained
within the single digit range. It reached the maximum
rate of 7.3 percent in December and a minimum rate of
6.0 percent in February (see Figure 4). The low and
stable rate of inflation is largely attributed to stability in
the prices of some key non-food items such as fuel
prices and clothing and footwear on the local market
during the year. This was further supported by a
reduction in the prices of health, recreational and
cultural services. However, inflation was adversely
affected by the volatility in maize meal prices especially
towards the end of the year.

In 2012, the economy, as measured by the nominal
Gross Domestic Product (GDP)1, grew to K 111, 049.4
billion in 2012 from K 93, 344.4 billion in 2011. This
translates into a real growth of 7.3 percent compared to
6.8 percent recorded in 2011.
The economic activities that recorded significant real
growth include: Construction which grew at 15.3 percent;
Financial Institutions and Insurance at 12.0 percent;
Transport, Storage and Communications at 11.3
percent; and the Manufacturing at 11.2 percent.
Remarkably, the Mining and Quarrying recorded a
negative growth of 13.2 percent in 2012 compared to a
negative growth of 5.2 percent recorded in 2011.
The drivers of the economy in terms of sector share
contribution to real GDP growth remained fairly
unchanged in 2012 compared to 2011 (see Table 2). In
both years, Construction; Wholesale and Retail Trade;
and Transport, Storage and Communications were the
key drivers of real GDP growth. Specifically,
Construction accounted for 1.8 percentage points
followed by Wholesale and Retail Trade and Transport,
Storage and Communications which accounted for 1.2
percentage points each to the total real GDP growth of
7.3 percent in 2012. The sectors which accounted for the
smallest share were Restaurants, Bars and Hotels and
Electricity, Gas and Water while Mining and Quarrying
shrunk.

Interest Rate
Following the introduction of the Policy Rate
(benchmark interest rate for commercial banks) by the
Bank of Zambia in April 2012, commercial banks'
lending rates declined. The average lending rates by
commercial banks was recorded at 19.1 percent in
2012 compared to 26.0 percent in 2011 (see Figure 4).
Similarly, the commercial banks' weighted average
lending base rate declined to 12.1 percent in 2012 from
18.8 percent registered in 2011. The observed trend in
the lending rate was consistent with the new
Government's agenda to align lending rates to inflation
and therefore make credit more affordable.

Table 2: Growth and share of real GDP growth in 2012 and 2011
Percentage growth

Percentage share of
real GDP growth
KIND OF ECONOMIC ACTIVITY
2012
2011
2012
2011
Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing
7.1
8.0
0.9
1.0
Mining and Quarrying
(13.2)
(5.2)
(1.2)
(0.5)
Manufacturing
11.2
8.0
1.0
0.7
Electricity, Gas and Water
2.3
8.2
0.1
0.2
Construction
15.3
8.9
1.8
1.1
Wholesale and Retail Trade
7.9
7.5
1.2
1.1
Restaurants, Bars and Hotels
2.1
7.9
0.1
0.2
Transport, Storage and Communications
11.3
13.7
1.2
1.4
Financial Institutions and Insurance
12.0
4.9
0.8
0.3
Real Estate and Business services
2.9
2.9
0.2
0.2
Community, Social and Personal Services
8.4
8.4
0.7
0.7
2
FISIM
2.3
2.3
(0.1)
(0.1)
Table 2: Growth and share of real GDP growth in 2012 and 2011
Ta xes on products
7.3
6.8
0.5
0.5
TOTAL
7.3
6.8
Source: CSO
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1

Revised GDP

2

Financial Intermediation Services Indirectly Measured (FISIM)

Figure 4: Inflation and interest rates in 2012

Table 3: Commodity prices in 2012 and 2011

Average
High
Low

Copper US$
per metric tonne
2012
2011
7,948.9 8,820.9
8,456.1 9,867.6
7,419.5 7,347.5

Cobalt US$
per metric tone
2012
2011
28,454.6 32,830.2
32,678.6 40,608.7
23,222.7 27,469.3

Crude oil US$
per barrel
2012
2011
107.9
105.3
120.3
115.5
93.2
92.5

Source: Bank of Zambia

Source: Bank of Zambia

Exchange Rate
During the year under review, the trend of the Kwacha
exchange rate against the US Dollar was a fluctuating
one. The exchange rate during the first half of the year
was fairly stable averaging at K5,217.72 per US Dollar
which then sharply appreciated to the year's lowest of
K4, 863.48 in July from K5,224.57 in June 2012.
Thereafter, a depreciating trend set in and this continued
up to the end of the year with the exchange rate
averaging K5,194.97 per US Dollar during the fourth
quarter. Overall, the average exchange rate for the
Kwacha against the US Dollar during 2012 was K5,
140.45 (see Figure 5).

The monthly dynamics in the prices of copper indicates
that the price tended to fluctuate throughout the year,
while that of cobalt tended to have a downward trend
(see Figure 6). In terms of production, there was a
decline in both copper and cobalt production by 6.4
percent and 15.4 percent, respectively, that is 823,
226.3 metric tonnes of copper and 6, 540.4 metric
tonnes of cobalt in 2012 from 879, 445 metric tonnes of
copper and 7, 733.8 metric tonnes of cobalt in 2011.

Figure 6: Price of copper and cobalt in 2012

Figure 5: Exchange rate movement in 2012

Source: Bank of Zambia

On the other hand, the price of crude oil was relatively
stable in 2012 (see Figure 7).
Source: Bank of Zambia

Commodity Prices

Figure 7: Price of Crude oil in 2012

Movements in copper and crude oil prices on the
international market which are the country's major export
and import commodities, respectively, tend to affect the
direction of key macroeconomic variables such as the
exchange rate and inflation in Zambia.
Compared to 2011, the prices of copper, cobalt and
crude oil were relatively unfavourable in 2012. This
exerted pressure on the overall balance of trade for
Zambia (see Table 3).

Source: Bank of Zambia

As shown below, the average price of copper in 2012
was recorded at US$7, 948.9 per metric tonne compared
to US$8,820.90 per metric tonne in 2011, while the price
of cobalt declined to an average of US $28, 454.6 per
tonne in 2012 from US$32, 830.2 per tonne in 2011.
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Tax Policy Support
Tax Policy Review Committee
During the year under review the Authority continued to
play a significant role in the design, development and
implementation of Tax Policy through its representation
on the Tax Policy Review Committee (TPRC) under the
Ministry of Finance (MoF).

The bulk of the measures were income tax related and
comprised fifteen measures while customs and excise
had eight with VAT related measures numbering four.
The Authority continued to provide clarifications on tax
proposal changes through various media such as
budget highlights, brochures, stakeholder workshops
and the website.
Ministerial and Parliamentary Services

Provision of Tax Revenue Data and Information
As part of its mandate the Authority provides tax
statistics and advice on tax administration to various
stakeholders. It is in this vein that the Authority provided
timely responses to ministerial requests both on Tax
Policy and tax legislative design. This included matters
relating to revenue and administrative impacts of Tax
Policy proposals and the preparation of layman's drafts
on changes to legislation.
Budget Legislation
Tax legislation continues to be a significant part of the
Government's legislation programme, with new
measures being introduced each year. In the 2012 fiscal
year Parliament passed 4 Bills containing 27 tax
measures, with a significant number of them becoming
effective from 1st January 2013 following changes to the
budget cycle.
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The Authority received over 650 pieces of ministerial
correspondence during the year. Further, the Authority
provided eight parliamentary question time briefs to
the Ministry of Finance. The Authority also responded
to the Reports of the Committee on Economic Affairs,
Energy and Labour and the Committee on Education,
Science and Technology. In addition, the Authority
appeared before the Committee on Economic Affairs,
Energy and Labour, the Committee on Estimates, the
Expanded Committee on Estimates for the 2013 Budget
Estimates and the Public Accounts Committee.

Review of Revenue Performance
Structure of the revenue system in 2012
Income taxes continued to be the major source of tax
revenue for Government accounting for over 50 percent
of the total tax revenue in the last four years (see Figure
8). The trend analysis of revenue contribution to total tax
revenue provides useful insight for long term tax
planning for Zambia. It reveals a pattern that is heavily
dependent on income taxes. However, future collections
will rely on consumption taxes as these are broadbased. This will provide relief to personal income taxes.
Figure 8: Proportion of tax types to total revenue 2008 - 2012

During the year under review, income tax contributed
56.6 percent of the tax revenue, followed by VAT
(domestic and import) at 22.9 percent, excise duties at
10.6 percent and customs and import duties which
contributed 9.8 percent. Within the income tax category,
PAYE accounted for 42.0 percent of income tax
revenues. The share of VAT, which was largely driven by
import VAT, increased to 22.9 percent in 2012 from 21.0
percent in 2011. Customs and export duties contributed
the smallest source of tax revenue. The share of customs
and export duties marginally increased to 9.8 percent in
2012 from 9.2 percent in 2011. The main driver of
customs and export duties in 2012 was customs duty
which accounted for 99.8 percent of the revenue in this
tax group.
Tax Revenue Performance in 2012
During the year, the Authority collected total revenue
amounting to K20, 807.0 billion against a Parliament
target of K19, 286.7 billion, thereby registering a surplus
of K1, 520.3 billion or 7.9 percent above target.
Compared to 2011, the 2012 tax revenue collection
increased by K1, 830.1 billion in nominal terms (see
Table 4).
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This surplus is attributable to higher collections under
income taxes, especially company tax. In particular,
company tax, PAYE, withholding tax, excise duty,
import VAT, medical levy and motor vehicle fees
performed above their targets by K1, 138.0 billion,
K717.8 billion, K29.5 billion, K112.4 billion, K699.2
billion, K7.9 billion and K40.7 billion, respectively.

Table 4: Tax revenue performance in 2012 (K’ billions)
Tax Types

Actual
Outturn

Target

Percentage
variance
of target
7.9%

Percentage
of GDP

19,286.7

Variance of
actual vs
target
1,520.3

Total Revenue

20,807.0

I. Tax Revenue

20,719.1

19,247.5

1,471.6

7.6%

18.7%

A. Income Taxes

11,733.8

10,271.3

1,462.5

14.2%

10.6%

4,402.2

3,264.3

1,138.0

34.9%

4.0%

Non Mining Company Tax

1,791.9

1,264.4

527.6

41.7%

1.6%

Mining Company Tax

2,610.3

1,999.9

610.4

30.5%

2.4%

4,934.0

4,216.2

717.8

17.0%

4.4%

938.9

909.5

29.5

3.2%

0.8%

1,458.6

1,881.3

(422.7)

(22.5)%

1.3%

2,198.1

2,085.7

112.4

5.4%

2.0%

1,531.5

1,556.0

(24.6)

(1.6)%

1.4%

30.6

48.3

(17.7)

(36.6)%

0.0%

613.8

460.1

153.7

33.4%

0.6%

22.1

21.2

0.9

4.4%

0.0%

C. VAT on domestic goods

(279.2)

392.0

(671.2)

(171.2)%

(0.3)%

D. Trade taxes

7,066.5

6,498.5

568.0

8.7%

6.4%

1. VAT on imports

5,030.8

4,331.6

699.2

16.1%

4.5%

2. Customs Duty

2,032.2

2,088.6

(56.5)

(2.7)%

1.8%

3. Export Duties

3.6

78.3

(74.7)

0.0%

0.0%

Export Duty on Scrap metals

0.0

6.3

(6.3)

(100.0)%

0.0%

Export Duty on Cotton seed

0.1

6.4

(6.3)

0.0%

0.0%

3.5

65.6

(62.1)

(94.7)%

0.0%

87.8

39.2

48.6

124.0%

0.1%

Medical Levy

27.1

19.2

7.9

41.2%

0.0%

Motor Vehicle Fees

60.7

20.0

40.7

204.0%

0.1%

1. Company Tax

2. PAYE
3. Withholding Taxes & others
4. Mineral Royalty Tax

B. Excise Taxes
1. Excise Duties
2. Rural Electrification Levy
3. Fuel Levy
4. Carbon Tax

Export Duty on Copper
Concentrate
II. Non Tax revenue

18.7%

The following section discusses the Authority's revenue
performance against the Parliament target by tax type.

output and unfavourable prices of copper and cobalt, in
2012 compared to 2011.

Income Taxes

During the year under review, income tax revenue was
K11,733.8 billion against the Parliament target of
K10,271.3 billion which was 14.2 percent above target.
Out of the total income tax revenue collected, K4,402.2
billion was company tax (37.5%), K4,934.0 billion was
PAYE (42.0%), K939.0 billion was withholding tax
(8.0%) and K1,458.6 billion was mineral royalty
(12.4%).

Income tax collections have shown an upward surge
over the last six years, as depicted in Figure 9. However,
mineral royalty collection during the year of K1, 458.6
billion was K422.7 billion or 22.5 percent below target.
This under-performance was largely attributed to lower
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Figure 9: Trend in income tax collections, 2008 - 2012 (K' billions)

Customs and Export Duties
Customs and export duties constitute what are called
trade taxes. The bulk of these trade taxes is customs
duty that in the last five years has accounted for over 95
percent. The performance of customs duty including
export duty is shown in Figure 11. During the year
under review, a total of K2,035.8 billion was collected
from these two duties which was below target by
K131.2 billion or 6.1 percent. Of this collection, 99.8
percent or K2, 032.2 billion was customs duty while 0.2
percent or K3.6 billion was export duty.

The favourable performance of company tax was
buoyed by increased profitability of some companies in
the mining sector. The performance of PAYE was
boosted by increased earnings among a number of
employees in sectors such as Finance and Mining. On
the other hand, the underperformance of withholding tax
was attributed to decreased collections on interest and
rent.

The deficit of trade taxes was largely due to
underperformance of customs duty which is attributed
to increased imports that enjoy customs duty
concessions mainly from SADC and COMESA.
Meanwhile, the deficit in export duty is explained by the
reduced export of unprocessed ores and concentrates
as a result of increased local processing capacity and
the ban on the export of all types of scrap metal.
Figure 11: Customs and export duties collections, 2008 to 2012 (K' billions)

Value Added Tax
Value Added Tax (VAT) comprises domestic VAT and
import VAT. The performance of VAT and the associated
refunds over the period 2008 to 2012 is depicted in
Figure 10. The 2012 performance was K4,752 billion and
was above target by K27.9 billion or 0.6 percent. Out of
the total VAT collection, import VAT contributed K5,030.8
billion while domestic VAT recorded a negative collection
of K279.2.
It is important to note that all VAT refunds are paid out of
domestic VAT and this practice tends to weaken the
performance of this tax type. The underperformance was
further exacerbated by enforcement and compliance
challenges. In an attempt to tackle these, the Authority
initiated the BMS strategy during the year to redress this
situation.
The performance of import VAT, on the other hand, was
boosted by an increase in the Value for Duty Purposes
(VDP) on taxable transactions, resulting in a significant
growth in the tax base with a corresponding growth in the
potential tax yield. The major products that led to this
growth were hydrocarbons, copper and cobalt ores and
concentrates and motor vehicles.

Performance of Mining Sector Taxes
Tax revenue from the mining sector has over the last
few years shown an upward trend largely on account of
increased mining activities. In 2012, the share of total
3
mining tax revenue to total tax revenue increased to
19.7 percent in 2012 from 17.7 percent in 2011. Of the
taxes paid by mining companies, company income tax
contributed the largest amount at K2,610.3 billion
followed by mineral royalty at K1,458.6 billion. Revenue
from exports of copper concentrates was K3.5 billion
(see Figure 12).
Figure 12: Tax revenues from the Mining Sector (K' billions)

Figure 10: Trend in VAT collections and refunds, 2008 to 2012 (K' billions)
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3

Mining tax revenue comprises company income tax,
mineral royalty and export duty.

Contribution of Tax Types to Total Revenue and
GDP
4
The ratio of tax revenue to GDP was recorded at 18.7
5
percent of GDP in 2012 compared to 18.4 percent in
2011.
Compared to 2011, the ratio for income taxes increased
to 10.6 percent in 2012 from 10.5 percent in 2011, while
taxes on domestic goods and services reduced
marginally to 1.7 percent in 2012 from 1.8 percent. The
ratio for trade taxes increased to 6.4 percent from 6.1
percent. However, the ratio for PAYE declined to 4.4
percent from 4.8 percent recorded in 2011 (see Table 5).
Table 5: Total revenue as share of GDP in 2012 and 2011

Tax Type

Percentage
of GDP in
2012
Income Tax
10.6
Company Tax
4.0
Pay As You Earn (PAYE)
4.4
Withholding Tax
0.8
Mineral Royalty
1.3
Mining Tax Arrears
Domestic Goods & Services
1.7
Excise Duty
2.0
Domestic Value Added
- Tax (VAT)
(0.3)
Trade Taxes
6.4
Import VAT
4.5
Import Duty
1.8
Export Duty
0.0
Medical Levy
0.02
GDP
111,049.4
Total Revenue as % of GDP
18.7

Percentage
of GDP in
2011
10.5
3.9
4.8
0.8
0.9
1.9
1.8
1.8
(0.04)
6.1
4.3
1.9
0.0
0.02
93,344.4
20.2

The trend of tax revenue to GDP over the last 18 years is
depicted in Figure 13. Over this period, the ratio has
averaged 17.7 percent and peaked in 2011 at 20.2
percent, inclusive of mining arrears. When the mining
arrears are excluded from the 2011 tax revenue the tax
revenue to GDP ratio is 18.4 percent.

Trend in collection of individual Tax Types and Total
Revenue
Figures 14 to 21 provide an overview of the
performance of individual tax types and total revenue
from 1995 to 2012. For all the tax types, there is a
gradual and consistent growth in collections since 1995.
This sustained increase in revenue collection reflects
the effectiveness of our collection strategies and
administrative systems. It also reflects the improvement
in the Authority's overall compliance and enforcement
strategies. The growth in the overall tax system as
depicted in Figure 21 shows how the revenue system
has remained buoyant and continues to respond
positively to the growth in the economy.
Figure 14: Company Income Tax as percentage of GDP , 1995 – 2012

Figure 15: Pay As You Earn as percentage of GDP, 1995 – 2012

Figure 16: Withholding Tax as percentage of GDP, 1995 – 2012

Figure 13: Trend in Tax Revenue to GDP ratio 1995-2012

Figure 17: Value Added Tax as percentage of GDP, 1995 – 2012

4 The tax revenue to GDP ratio indicates the responsiveness of tax collections to economic growth.
520.2 percent inclusive of mining arrears
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Figure 18: Mineral Royalty as percentage of GDP, 1995 – 2012

Mineral royalty debt was insignificant in 2012 in
comparison to 2011.
Table 6: Trend in domestic debt accumulation, 2008 - 2012 (K' billions)
Tax Type
Company Tax
Back Duty
Self Employed
PAYE
Domestic VAT
Mineral Royalty
Total

Figure 19: Excise Duties as percentage of GDP, 1995 – 2012

2008
2,366.0
8.0
86.0
1,712.0
1,299.0
5,471.0

2009
1,182.0
8.0
16.0
819.0
1,167.0
3,192.0

2010
717.0
17.0
123.0
490.7
2,107.0
0.7
3,455.4

2011
949.4
11.1
1,786.1
2,049.6
53.3
4,849.5

2012
3,319.1
1,605.0
687.7
0.04
5,611.8

Performance of Operating Divisions
Customs Services Division
In 2012, the Authority continued to pursue strategies
aimed at facilitating trade by improving the
management and processing of customs entries;
customs declarations; and risk management and
profiling.
Customs Entries

Figure 20: Import Tariffs as percentage of GDP, 1995 – 2012

Figure 21: Tax Revenue (K' billions) 1995 – 2012

During the year under review, the number of import
entries increased by 20.7 percent to 293, 970 in 2012
from 243, 634 in 2011 while Value for Duty Purposes
(VDP) increased by 14.3 percent over the same period.
The number of export entries lodged also registered an
increase of 7.1 percent to 130,202 entries in 2012 from
121, 575 entries in 2011 while VDP increased by 85.8
percent over the same period (see Table 7).
As depicted in Figure 22, the high number of import and
export entries put a lot of pressure on our trade
facilitation role. The increase in the number of export
entries was mainly attributed to increased exports from
the mining sector.
Table 7: Entries of Permanent Imports and Permanent Exports in 2012 and 2011

Number of Import Entries Lodged
Value of Import Entries Lodged
(K billion)
Number of Export Entries Lodged
Value of Export Entries Lodged
(K billion)

Debt Management-Domestic Taxes
During the period 2008 to 2012, the average debt stock
stood at K4, 294.3 billion (see Table 6). The domestic
taxes debt stock increased by 15.7 percent to K5, 611.8
billion in 2012 from K4, 849.5 billion in 2011.
Major increases in debt came from company tax, PAYE
and domestic VAT. Of the K5, 611.8 billion debt stock in
2012, 59.1 percent was company tax, 28.6 percent was
PAYE, and 12.3 percent was domestic VAT.
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2012

2011

293,970

243,634

Percentage
Variance
20.7%

42,931
130,202

37,549
121,575

14.3%
7.1%

80,625

43,390

85.8%

Figure 22: Import and Export Entries 2012 and 2011

Duty Drawback Scheme

Table 10: Processing efficiency in tax yield from all taxable transactions in 2012 and 2011 (K'billions)

In order to make exports competitive, the Authority has a
Duty Drawback Scheme which enables local
manufacturers claim back duties paid on inputs used in
the manufacturing process. The Authority also
administers other customs refunds which are referred to
as general refunds.
Between 2011 and 2012, the number of duty drawback
applications decreased by 15.8 percent while the value
of claims increased by 15.5 percent. On the other hand,
the number of general refund claims increased by 49.8
percent, while the value of these refund claims reduced
by 27.5 percent (see Table 8).
Table 8: Number, Value of Duty Drawback applications and General Refunds in 2012 and 2011
2012

2011

Duty Drawback Refunds
Number of applications
Value of applications (K’ bn)
Value of processed applications (K’ bn)
Value of payments (K’ bn)

372
82
77
69

442
71
71
65

Percentage
Variance
-15.8%
15.5%
8.5%
6.2%

General Refunds
Number of claims
Value of claims (K’ bn)
Value of processed claims (K’ bn)
Value of payments (K’ bn)

632
21
21
21

422
29
29
29

49.8%
-27.5%
-27.5%
-27.5%

Customs Declarations
The registration to assessment conversion ratio
indicates the volume of declared registrations that reach
the assessment stage of the revenue collection process.
In the review period, 97.4 percent of the total
transactions were assessed compared to 98.5 percent
in 2011. This decline can be attributed to the increase in
the number of entries and the ICT system failures (see
Table 9).

Year

2012
2011

Unassessed Registered Registered,
Total Percentage Percentage Percentage
but not assessed collectable un-assessed
unpaid receipted
taxes
assessed
and paid amount
73
21

270
138

9, 014
7,123

9, 357
7,282

0.8
0.3

2.9
1.9

96.3
97.8

Risk Profiling Analysis
During the period under review, the Authority applied
risk management techniques in the processing of
imports and exports to select entry declarations for
different levels of scrutiny to allow for effective and
efficient utilization of resources.
Using these techniques, 37.4 percent of the
transactions were channelled to the green lane -thus
not subjected to any scrutiny, while 9.6 percent were
channelled to the blue lane requiring post clearance
audits. A further 30.3 percent were channelled to the
yellow lane requiring documentary checks while the
remaining 22.7 percent were subjected to physical
inspection under the red lane.
An analysis of the VDP by lane, for the same period
indicates that the highest VDP by lane, stood at K107,
138 billion or 53.0 percent and was processed under the
green lane while 28.7 percent or K57, 931 billion was
processed under the yellow lane.
On the other hand, the tax yield, by lane, for the same
period indicates that the highest yield was on account of
transactions channelled to the yellow lane which
accounted for 38.3 percent or K3, 451 billion of the total
trade tax yield. This was followed by those channelled
to the green lane which accounted for 35.1 percent or
K3,163 billion (see Tables 11 and 12).
Table 11: 2012 Lane Analysis with VDP

Table 9: Registration to Assessment Conversion Ratio for all transactions 2012 and 2011
Year

Assessed

611,210

Registered
but not
assessed
16,478

2012
2011

Total

627,688

549,012

8,354

557,366

Percentage
Percentage
assessed registered but not
assessed
97.4
2.6
98.5

Count
Value for Duty Purposes (K’bn)
Lane
Green Blue Yellow Red Total Green Blue Yellow Red Total
Total
228,809 58,739 184,976 138,686 611,210 107,138 15,317 57,931 21,673 202,058
Percentage
37.4 9.6 30.3 22.7 100.0 53.0 7.6 28.7 10.7 100.0

1.5

Table 12: 2012 Lane Analysis Tax Yield for Assessed, Receipted Transactions

Processing Efficiency
Processing efficiency as measured by the actual
6
revenue collected against the potential revenue was
recorded at 96.3 percent in 2012 compared to 97.8
percent in 2011. Specifically, the potential revenue in the
period under review amounted to K9, 357 billion of which
K9, 014 billion was collected. A further K270 billion or 2.9
percent was registered but not assessed while K73
billion or 0.8 percent was not assessed and therefore no
collections were made (see Table 10).

6 This is the revenue as captured on ASYCUDA++

Count

Tax Yield (K’bn)

Lane
Green Blue Yellow Red Total Green Blue Yellow Red Total
Total
228,809 58,739 184,976 138,686 611,210 3,163 880 3,451 1,520 9,014
Percentage 37.4 9.6 30.3 22.7 100.0 35.1 9.8 38.3 16.9 100.0
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Domestic Taxes Division
Return filing and processing, debt management and
tax audits are integral in the administration of domestic
taxes.
Return Filing
As at the end of 2012, the total number of active
7
registered taxpayers stood at 85,694 compared to 66
384 in 2011. During the year under review, the number of
active taxpayers under company income tax, PAYE,
turnover tax and VAT was recorded at 28,907; 16,822;
53,715; and 9,295 respectively compared to 19,832;
14,340; 43,764; and 8,498 respectively in 2011.
Return filing is an important component of the
administration of domestic taxes. The Self-assessment
Scheme administered by the Authority, encourages
taxpayers to submit complete and correct tax returns
voluntarily, as and when they become due.
During the year under review, the Authority received
134,810 tax returns compared to 123,897 returns in
2011 representing an increase of 8.8 percent. Similarly

to 2011, there was an increase in the number of tax
returns filed across all tax types. The number of income
tax returns submitted in 2012 increased to 34,299 from
27,773 returns in 2011 representing an increase of 23.5
percent. With regard to VAT returns, the number
submitted in 2012 increased to 100,511 from 96,124 in
2011 (see Tables 13 and 14).
The value of tax returns received in 2012 and 2011 is
also depicted in Tables 13 and 14. The total value of tax
return in 2012 was K16,478.1 billion up from K8, 726.4
billion in 2011. Individually, the value of income tax
returns increased by 142.9 percent to K11,771.7 billion
in 2012 from K4,845.7 billion in 2011. Meanwhile, for
VAT the value of returns increased to K4, 706.4 billion in
2012 from K3,880.7 billion in 2011. Additionally, the
value of VAT refunds paid out increased to K4,998.0
billion in 2012 from K 3,730.0 billion in 2011.
For VAT refunds, 5,371 refunds were processed out of 9,
209 applications, representing a processing efficiency
of 58.3 percent compared to 2011 when 8,051 refunds
were processed out of 8, 168 applications, representing
a processing efficiency of 98.6 percent (see Table 14).

Table 14: VAT Return Statistics
Table 13: Income Tax Return Statistics
2012

2011

Number of returns submitted
Company tax
Employed Individuals
Self-employed individuals
PAYE for individuals
Withholding tax
Property Transfer Tax
Mineral Royalty
Total number of returns submitted

7,125
255
2,658
8,673
11,100
3,718
770
34,299

5,998
48
1,486
7,717
8,238
4,228
58
27,773

Value of returns submitted (K’ billion)
Company tax
Employed Individuals
Self-employed individuals
PAYE for individuals
Withholding tax
Property Transfer Tax
Mineral Royalty
Total value of returns submitted

4,402.2
35.0
43.2
4,966.5
786.1
80.1
1,458.6
11,772

1,493.1
0.1
31.3
2,517.1
314.3
97.1
392.7
4,846

Number of refund applications
PAYE for individuals

16,003

11,963

39.4

43.7

Value of refunds paid (K’ billion)
PAYE for individuals
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2012

2011

59,174
32,982
8,355
100,511

57,362
30,594
8,168
96,124

Value of returns submitted (K’ billion)
Payment returns
Nil returns
Repayment (claims) returns

4,706.4
Nil
(5,505.0)

3,880.7
Nil
(3,483.5)

Number of Refund Applications
Number of Refund Applications
Number of Refunds Processed
Value of Refunds Paid (K’ billion)

9,209
5,371
(4,998.0)

8,168
8,051
(3,730.0)

Number of returns submitted
Payment returns
Nil returns
Repayment (claims) returns
Total

7 Active registered taxpayers are those that either: corresponded regularly with the Authority; submitted at least one return during the year;
applied for a Tax Clearance Certificates; made any payment towards a tax return or audit assessment; or got captured from compliance
activities carried out by the Authority.

Domestic Tax Audit Performance
Tax audit is one of the key enforcement tools the
Authority uses in ensuring that there is compliance with
the tax law of the country. An effective tax audit system is
cardinal in improving voluntary compliance and
consequently revenue collection. Table 15 depicts the
number of audits conducted and the value of associated
taxes collected in 2012. The number of audits refers to
audits conducted in all the three offices across the tax
types. Meanwhile, the value of audits refers to both total
tax collected and deferred taxes across the tax types in
all the three offices.
During the year under review, the number of audits
conducted declined marginally by 1.1 percent to 10, 244
in 2012 from 10,360 in 2011. The Large Taxpayer Office
(LTO), Medium Taxpayer Office (MTO) and Small
Taxpayer Office (STO) accounted for 885 audits, 6,675
audits and 2,714 audits, respectively.

In terms of value, a total of K930.9 billion in taxes was
assessed, that is K703.7 billion; K223.6 billion and
K3.6 billion from LTO, MTO and STO, respectively. The
amount assessed in 2012 represented a decline of
52.4 percent compared to K1, 957.6 billion assessed in
2011 largely owing to a significant drop in deferred tax
8
assessments . Of the total amount assessed in 2012,
K303.6 billion was collected while K627.3 billion was
deferred.
Furthermore, the Authority charged penalties
amounting to K297.7 billion in the same period for noncompliance with tax regulations. The bulk of the
penalties were attributable to the Large Taxpayer
Office, accounting for 91.0 percent of the total.

Table 15: Number of audits and tax collected in 2012

Large Tax Office
Tax of Audit
Number of audits
Income tax
PAYE
VAT
Integrated
Sub Total

Tax collected
(K’bn)
86.3
3.7
12.0
2.1
104.1

Deferred
(K’bn)
594.4
0.02
5.2
0
599.6

Total Penalties
(K,bn)
(K’bn)
680.7
266.2
3.7
1.9
17.2
1.7
2.1
1.0
703.7
270.8

Tax collected
(K’bn)
105.3
10.5
59.0
21.1
195.9

Deferred
(K’bn)
11.1
0.1
16.5
0.005
27.7

Total Penalties
(K,bn)
(K’bn)
116.4
1.6
10.6
8.5
75.5
2.8
21.1
7.6
223.6
20.5

2,674
0
40
0
2,714

Tax collected
(K’bn)
3.6
0
0.0
0
3.6

Deferred
(K’bn)
0
0
0
0
0

Total Penalties
(K,bn)
(K’bn)
3.6
6.4
0
0
0.0
0
0
0
3.6
6.4

10,244

303.6

627.3

374
44
433
4
855

Medium Tax Office
Tax of Audit
Number of audits
Income tax
PAYE
VAT
Integrated
Sub Total

3,700
205
2,620
150
6,675

Small Tax Office
Tax of Audit
Number of audits
Income tax
PAYE
VAT
Integrated
Sub Total
Grand Total

8Deferred tax on company tax is additional tax assessed on loss making companies. The tax is deferred in the sense that it is not collectible immediately
as the company still remains in a loss situation even after the audit adjustment. For VAT, deferred tax on VAT is additional tax arising from credibility
checks on claims for VAT refunds i.e. the reduction in the VAT refunds.

930.9

297.7
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Compliance Initiatives that Support
Revenue Collection

Figure 23: Number of TPIN Registrations 2008-2012

Compliance
Improving tax compliance amongst the taxpayers
remained a key activity of the Authority in 2012.
Compliance initiatives undertaken during the year
included;
·
the commissioning of a study to investigate the
possibility of using the Block Management
System (BMS) to improve compliance among
The Authority also registered taxpayers in various tax
SMEs and in general the informal sector to
types during the year under review. A total of 14,960
enhance revenue and to broaden the tax base.
taxpayers were registered for various income taxes in
2012 compared to 19,517 registered in 2011 while
·
the launch of the Small and Medium Enterprise
1,763 taxpayers where registered for PAYE compared
Taxation (SME) strategy in collaboration with
to
2,570 in 2011. Meanwhile, 1,476 taxpayers were
GIZ aimed at enhancing tax compliance.
registered for VAT compared to 1,170 registered in 2011
(see Figure 24).
·
a review of the taxpayer education and advisory
services strategy including the enhancement of
the ZRA website and Call Centre.
Figure 24: Registrations by Tax Type in 2012 and 2011
·
analysing compliance costs and taxpayer
perceptions about ZRA service delivery.
Tax Registrations
During the year under review, the Authority continued
with its tax registration activity. In this regard, a total of
42, 900 Taxpayer Identification Numbers (TPIN) were
issued during the year compared to 38, 374 issued in
2011. As depicted in Figure 23, the number of TPINs
registered per annum has more than doubled in the past
five years.
The TPIN register9 in 2012 stood at 227,037 out of
which 85 694 were active10. A total of 4, 435 TPINs were
de-registered as at the end of 2012. The de-registration
of TPINs arises from requests for de-registration from
taxpayers, based on evidence of de-registration of
companies at the Patents and Companies Registration
Agency (PACRA) or the dissolution of partnerships.
During the same period, a total of 1,111 TPINs were
pending de-registration.
TPINs pending de-registration are those TPINs
earmarked for de-registration. However, before deregistration is effected, certain administrative
requirements have to be satisfied such as the clearance
of any outstanding tax liability.

Taxpayer Education and Advisory Services
In an effort to enhance interaction with taxpayers, the
Authority employed innovations to improve taxpayer
services. This included holding consultative meetings
with taxpayers, both small and large, at provincial and
district levels.
The Authority participated fully in all national and
provincial trade and agricultural shows where taxpayer
education and registration was undertaken.
In
addition, the Authority used both print and electronic
media to provide tax information to taxpayers.
Furthermore, the Authority ran educational
programmes on both national and community radio
stations. For example, the weekly print media article
“Tax Chat” received positive feedback from taxpayers.
Another facility that was highly utilised to interact with
taxpayers was the e-mail based advisory service. The
Call Centre was equally effective in providing advisory
services to taxpayers. The process of enhancing the
ZRA website commenced during the year, enabling

9 The TPINs register includes TPINs that have active tax accounts as well as those issued to businesses and individuals to facilitate one-off
transactions such as clearance of motor vehicles and sale of property as it is now a requirement that whoever deals with the Authority must have a TPIN.
10 See footnote 7
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taxpayers to access and download tax information and
related documents. Table 16 shows the number of
outreach programmes that were conducted in 2012.

transfer pricing; customer service; electronic records
management and research methods.
Non-Compliance and Prosecution Outcomes

Table 16: Number of Taxpayer Outreach Programmes in 2012

Outreach Activity
Tax chats in the print media.
Tax presentations to stakeholders
Tax clinics
Radio programmes
Door to door campaigns

Number conducted
27
27
4
18
4

In 2012, a total of 64, 836 taxpayers contacted the
Authority through the Advice Centre for the purpose of
seeking clarifications on tax matters. The modes of
contact were: walk-ins, telephone, email and letters. As
depicted in Figure 25, the majority of taxpayers walk to
the Authority to seek services followed by those who use
telephones and letters. The use of letters was the least
used mode of contact.
Figure 25: Taxpayer contact with Advice Centre in 2012

The use of the telephone as a means of interacting
with the Authority is gradually becoming popular
due to the commissioning of the Call Centre. As the
use of the Call Centre becomes popular, we expect
to see a reduction in the number of queries in the
front office.
Enhancing Staff Skills
The Authority committed significant resources to
capacity building, focusing on the different needs of
our staff in order to create a workforce that is skilled
and committed to meet the Authority's mandate.
These efforts resulted in the successful
implementation of several training programmes in
which the members of staff were trained in
specialised areas such as risk management;
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In the process of conducting tax administration, serious
cases of non-compliance arise and these require
thorough investigation and where appropriate,
prosecution is pursued.
Investigations
A total of 120 cases were investigated during the year
under review compared to 77 cases in 2011, an
increase of 55.8 percent. Out of the 120 cases, 99 were
investigated under the Customs Services Division while
21 were investigated under the Domestic Taxes
Division. From these investigations, a total of K23.6
billion was recovered in 2012 compared to K19.9 billion
in 2011.
The Authority's units responsible for investigations and
prosecutions continued to partner with other law
enforcement agencies such as Zambia Police, ACC
and DEC to improve the quality of investigations on tax
related offences.

Managing Public Confidence

Minimising Compliance Costs

Professional Excellence and Staff Integrity

The Authority believes that the analysis of the cost of
compliance is one of the first critical stages in
developing a strategy aimed at reducing the cost of
doing business which in turn will induce public
confidence and improve voluntary compliance.

The Authority has in place an Integrity Committee whose
mandate is to sensitise staff on matters of integrity.
During the year under review, the ZRA Integrity
Committee conducted seven integrity awareness
workshops for various stakeholders. These workshops
were done in collaboration with the following partner
institutions: Transparency International Zambia; the
Department of Immigration; the Road Transport and
Safety Agency (RTSA); the Zambia Police Service and
the ACC. The workshops, whose participants were
drawn from both the public and private sector, were held
in Lusaka, Kitwe, Livingstone, Chirundu, Nakonde and
Kapiri Mposhi.
The Authority and Taxpayers
Another way the Authority manages public confidence is
through the Taxpayer Charter which sets out the service
standards. The Charter is a public document which is
accessible by all and is evaluated publicly through
quarterly reports which are published in the national
media. Consequently, the Charter serves as a tool for
the continuous monitoring and evaluation of the
Authority's service delivery to clients which enables them
to hold the Authority accountable. The Charter also
spells out the obligations of the taxpayer.
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In this regard, the Authority, during the year, undertook
studies to appreciate the compliance costs that affect
taxpayers as well as their perception about the
Authority's service delivery. Two study reports were
completed; one covering the small taxpayers and the
other covering medium taxpayers. Both studies
estimated the average total cost of compliance which
will be used as benchmarks in developing strategies for
improving tax administration.

Corporate Governance

Licensing Committee

During 2012, the Authority continued to streamline its
corporate governance structure and utilise the risk
management framework which was aimed at installing
confidence and trust of stakeholders. Meanwhile, the
board continued to play its oversight role through its
various committees.

The Customs Clearing and Forwarding Licensing
Committee has authority to consider and approve
applications for licences made by Clearing and
Forwarding Agents. The Committee is therefore
responsible for the issuance of new licences as well as
renewal of these licences.

Corporate Governance Approach

The Corporate Strategic Plan

Two significant changes were made in the organisational
structure in 2012. The position of Commissioner –
Finance was introduced and the directorate of
Information Technology (IT) was shifted from the
Corporate Services Division to stand alone. This means
that the Director IT reports directly to the Commissioner
General. The position of Director Investigations was also
created in 2012.

The Authority has in place a Corporate Strategic Plan
(CSP) that specifies the organisation's strategic
direction. The Annual Divisional Action Plans enable
the Commissioner General to realise the Authority's
strategic vision.

Risk Management
At corporate level the risk management process was
used in strategic planning with approved risk treatment
measures forming part of the planned actions for
implementation while at operational level, the process
was applied in profiling taxpayers and the management
of new projects. The Authority will continue to make
efforts aimed at widening the application of the risk
management process to cover more operational
functions.
Role of the ZRA Governing Board
The Governing Board carries out its oversight mandate
through various committees. These are:
Audit Committee
This Committee mainly reviews the Authority's systems
of internal controls regarding finance, accounting, legal
compliance and ethics that management and the Board
have established. This Committee also oversees the
Authority's auditing, accounting and financial reporting
processes.
Finance Committee
This Committee mainly considers the Financial
Statements and Revenue Collection Reports of the
Authority.
Legal, Staff and Disciplinary Committee
This Committee mainly considers legal matters, the
recruitment of staff, the Establishment, the review of
policies; management appraisal systems and the
revision of conditions of service of staff.
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As a way of operationalising the CSP, Divisions
develop their Annual Divisional Action Plans. The
Annual Divisional Action Plans are very critical as they
provide activities on the basis of which resource
allocation is done. The performance of Annual
Divisional Action Plans is monitored on monthly and
quarterly basis and reports are submitted to the
Governing Board.
In the year under review, the Authority fully
implemented 18 percent of the Planned Actions while
79 percent and 3 percent of the planned actions were
partially implemented and not implemented,
respectively (see Figures 26a and 26b).

Figure 26a: Implementation of the Corporate Plan as at end of December 2012

Figure 26b: Implementation by Strategic Objective as at end of December 2012
100%
80%

18%

60%
40%

79%

20%
3%

0%
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50%

100%

Percentage of Actions Fully Implemented
Percentage of Actions Partially Implemented
Percentage of Actions Not Implemented

Strategic Objective 3 (to enhance operational efficiency)
had the highest number of actions that were fully
implemented at 30 percent followed by Strategic
Objective 2 (to improve service delivery) and Strategic
Objective 5 (to improve infrastructure), at 25 percent
each. Meanwhile Strategic Objective 4 (to enhance
professionalism and productivity of the workforce) had
13 percent of planned actions fully implemented as at the
end of December 2012 while Strategic Objective 1 (to
maximise revenue collection) had no planned actions
that were fully implemented. All the planned actions that
were not implemented during the year under review were
under Strategic Objective 3.
The large proportion of partially implemented actions on
most strategic objectives is due to actions that will
continue up to the end 2013. For monitoring purposes,
actions where some work has been done but have not yet
reached completion are treated as partially done
regardless of the percentage of work done. The only time
that such actions will be coded green is when 100
percent of the work has been achieved.
The actions not implemented under Strategic Objective 3
(10%) are with regard to “developing a Corporate
Governance Policy and increase filing and payment
options”.
Divisional and Departmental Functions
The Authority has two operating divisions which are
Customs Services Division and Domestic Taxes
Division. In carrying out their mandates, these two
divisions are supported by the following; the Corporate
Services Division; Finance Division; Human Resource
Department; Research and Planning Department;
Project Management Department; Internal Audit

Percentage of
Actions Fully
Implemented

SO1 SO2 SO3 SO4 SO5
0%

25% 30% 13% 25%

Percentage of
Actions Partially 100% 75% 60% 88% 75%
Implemented
Percentage of
Actions Not
Implemented

0%

0%

10%

0%

0%

Department; Investigations Department; and
Information Technology Department.
Below is a summary of the functions of the Divisions and
Departments.
Customs Services
The Division is responsible for the administration of the
Customs and Excise Act Chapter 322 of the Laws of
Zambia. In addition, the Division is also responsible for
securing the supply chain, protection of society through
the control of imports of prohibited substances and the
provision of trade statistics. The Division also facilitates
international trade. Taxes administered by the Division
are: customs duties; export duties; excise duties; import
VAT; motor vehicle fees and carbon emissions surtax.
Domestic Taxes
The Division is responsible for the administration and
collection of all domestic taxes apart from domestic
excise duty that is collected by Customs Services
Division. The Division administers the Income Tax Act,
Chapter 323 of the Laws of Zambia; the Value Added
Tax Act, Chapter 331 of the Laws of Zambia; the
Property Transfer Tax Act, Chapter 340 of the Laws of
Zambia; and the Medical Levy Act, No. 6 of 2003. In
addition, the Division collects mineral royalty pursuant
to the Mines and Minerals Development Act, No. 7 of
2008.
There are three directorates under Domestic Taxes
Division namely; Design and Monitoring (D & M), Large
Taxpayer Office (LTO) and Small & Medium Taxpayer
Office (SMTO). Taxpayer segmentation is according to
the annual turnover; LTO - K20.0 billion and above per
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annum, MTO – below K20.0 billion but above K200.0
million per annum and STO – K200.0 million and below.
Despite this segmentation, all financial institutions and
mining companies (including small and medium mines)
regardless of the turnover are classified under LTO. A
specialised Mining Unit under LTO is responsible for all
mining tax affairs.
Corporate Services
The Division is responsible for, among other things:
procurement and supply; maintenance and
development of infrastructure; transport and security;
general administration; legal affairs; and provision of
support services to the Governing Board.
Human Resource
The Department is responsible for providing specialised
Human Resource services, and professional judgement
and advice to ZRA geared towards the effective and
efficient utilisation of the Authority's Human Resource as
well as ensuring the retention of skilled staff. The
Department is also mandated to lead and manage
employee relations and the work place HIV and AIDS
Policy.

Finance
The Division is responsible for delivering outstanding
business financial solutions consistently through
seamlessly integrated financial and business systems.
The Division has two units namely Treasury and
Accounting. The role of Treasury Unit is to facilitate the
collection of Government revenue while the
Accounting Unit is responsible for the management of
the funds received from the central Government for the
operations of the Authority.
Internal Audit
The Internal Audit Department reviews and confirms
the reliability of internal controls, risk management and
governance processes within the Authority. The
Department also assesses, on a regular basis, the
level of implementation of various recommendations
agreed in prior audit reports. The Internal Audit
Department also coordinates all queries from the
Office of the Auditor General. In addition, the
Department is responsible for continuously evaluating
the processes of controlling operations throughout the
Authority.
Project Management

Research and Planning
The key strategic role of the Research and Planning
Department (RPD) is to provide research, policy
development, taxpayer education, programme planning
and corporate communications services.
The
department comprises four Units: Research and Policy,
Corporate Planning, Business Continuity and Corporate
Communication.

The Project Management Department was formulated
as part of the modernisation strategy of the Authority. It
was created to support project needs within the
Authority and to allow for efficiency and effectiveness
in project implementation. The Department offers
centralised and coordinated management of projects
within the Authority as well as project support on a
formal basis to all projects that are on-going.

Specifically the department is mandated to provide wellresearched and analysed information, economic and
statistical, on tax matters for use in policy decisions
made by management.

This support includes advice on project management
tools, guidance and administrative services such as
efficient project documentation, and collection of
actuals on projects.

It also coordinates all activities relating to the
development and implementation of the Authority's
Corporate Strategic Plan. Further, the department
coordinates the implementation of the organisation-wide
risk management process, and monitoring of the
Taxpayers' Charter. RPD is the custodian of the
Corporate Business Continuity Plan, policy and strategy
which is meant to ensure business operational continuity
in the event of failure of the key processes and systems.

Information Technology

The department is also responsible for developing and
maintaining a proactive public relations and
communications strategy that promotes a positive image
for the Authority as well as secures buy-in from all
stakeholders towards the Authority's programmes
through the implementation of the Communication
Policy and the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy.
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The Department is responsible for the provision of ICT
systems that support the operations of the Authority.
This includes developing and implementing ICT
strategies that assist the Authority to achieve its
mandate of optimising revenue collection.
It also strengthens existing information systems to
enhance efficiency, co-ordination, and integration of
business systems. Furthermore, the Department is
responsible for modernising existing communication
systems and facilitate linkages to the outside world.

Investigations

Internal Affairs

The Investigations Department helps the Authority in the
management of risks on categories of taxpayers and
taxable activities that have a high revenue leakage risk
platform such as; new trends of tax evasion, commercial
fraud, smuggling and transit fraud among others,
thereby helping the Authority in optimising revenue
collection. The Department gathers intelligence which is
used in curbing revenue leakage.

The Internal Affairs Unit is mandated to investigate
cases of employee misconduct, which compromise
corporate integrity in ZRA, such as corruption, fraud
and other malpractices. In dealing with cases of
improper employee conduct, the Unit has adopted the
Prevention, Education and Enforcement (PEE)
strategy of combating corruption which includes
investigation and prosecution of offenders. In
performing these functions, the Unit collaborates with
other law enforcement agencies such as Zambia Police
Service, the ACC, and the DEC.
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Internal and External Scrutiny
Internal Scrutiny
Internal Audit
During the year, the Internal Audit Department undertook
64 process audits out of which 26 were conducted as
follow up audits to determine the implementation status
of audit issues identified in previous audits. Out of the 64
process audits conducted, 38 were finalised and
submitted to the Audit Committee of the Governing Board
while 26 were in draft reports being commented on and
receiving attention. In addition to the 64 process audits,
the Department undertook two (2) special reviews out of
which one was finalised during the year (see Table 17).
Table 17: Audits and investigations undertaken in 2012 and 2011

Audits and Investigations
2012
Number of process audits
64
Number of process audits finalised
38
Number of special reviews and investigations undertaken 2
Number of special reviews and investigations finalised
1

2011
35
13
4
4

Fraud and Fraud Prevention
During the year, the Internal Affairs Unit, which is
mandated to investigate all matters pertaining to
corruption, fraud and other malpractices involving
the Authority's employees, recorded 49 cases of
fraud and misconduct compared to 26 in 2011 (see
Table 18).

The leading cases of misconduct were those of fraud
and the breach of the Code of Conduct which
accounted for 37 percent and 22 percent, respectively.
There was an increase in the number of cases involving
theft during the year. However, there was a slight
reduction in the number of bribery cases to 10 in 2012
from 12 in 2011.
Of the total cases recorded in 2012, seven (7) cases
resulted in dismissals while one case was before the
court. There were no cases referred to other law
enforcement agencies while the Unit received one case
from the ACC, for investigation.
Staff Integrity
The Integrity Committee continued to receive client
feedback through its Secretariat. The modes used for
submissions were by way of suggestion boxes placed
at various ZRA stations, letters, email and telephone
(see Table 19).
Table 19: Number of Complaints and Comments Received by ZRAIC

Year
2012
2011

Complaints
56
63

Comments
44
47

Total
100
110

During the year under review, the number of
comments and complaints reduced to 100 from
110 in 2011 representing a reduction of 9.1
percent. This implies that the Authority's efforts of
reducing misconduct by staff are working.
Nature of Taxpayer Comments and Complaints

Table 18: Cases of fraud and misconduct by employees in 2012 and 2011

Type of offence
Fraud
Code of Conduct (breach of)
Theft
Bribery
Abetting smuggling
Other
Total cases investigated

2012
18
11
05
10
05
0
49

2011
3
5
0
12
4
2
26

There has been a significant increase in number of
cases that the Unit investigated in 2012, which
amounted to 49, compared to 26 in 2011. This was
as a result of changes in the information gathering
and intelligence strategy which led to improved
liaison with other law enforcement agencies in the
investigation of cases and exchange of intelligence
information. There was also enhanced effort by
ZRAIC in creating awareness among staff and
members of the public on the dangers of engaging
in corrupt activities.

40

Of the 34 comments received in 2012, the majority
were on information requests which accounted for
24 cases or 70.6 percent followed by queries at 7
or 20.6 percent. The remainder were compliments
which amounted to 3 or 8.8 percent of the total
comments received (see Table 20).
Table 20: Nature of Comments Received

Taxpayer Feedback
Compliments
Information
Queries
Total

No
3
24
7
34

Furthermore, of the 56 complaints received in
2012, the majority related to alleged staff
inefficiency which accounted for 20 or 35.7
percent followed by professional misconduct
which accounted for 18 or 32.1 percent of the total
complaints received. Allegations of tax evasion
were 12 or 21.4 percent while complaints of
maladministration accounted for 3 or 5.4 percent.
The rest of other types of complaints accounted for
3 or 5.4 percent (see Table 21).

Table 21: Type of Complaints Received

Taxpayer Complaints
Maladministration
Inefficiency
Tax Evasion
Professional Misconduct
Others
Total

No
3
20
12
18
3
56

With regard to the nature of the cases before the court,
30 cases or 50 percent were customs and excise
related while 8 cases or 13 percent were related to
domestic taxes. The VAT and labour related and other
cases accounted for the remainder of the cases. A total
of 7 cases were concluded during the year out of which
6 cases were in favour of the Authority while 1 case was
in favour of the taxpayer. The remaining cases were still
before the courts at the end of the year (see Table 23).
Table 23: Cases in various Courts by category in 2012
Tax Type

Number of cases

30
8
3
13

4
0
0
1

Number of
Judgments in
favour of
Taxpayers
0
0
0
1

6
60

1
6

0
1

External Scrutiny
Parliamentary Committees
Parliament provides an oversight function over the
operations of the Authority through various Committees
of the House. In this regard, the Authority responded to a
number of Parliamentary inquiries and also appeared
before different Parliamentary Committees.

Customs and Excise
Direct Taxes
VAT
Industrial Relations
cases
Others
Total

Number of
Judgments in
favour of ZRA

Auditor General
During the year under review, the Authority responded to
all audit queries raised by the Office of the Auditor
General. In addition, the Auditor General conducted a
review of the operations of the ZRA for the financial years
ended 31st December 2010 and 2011 and also conducted
an audit of revenue collection for the financial year ended
31st December 2011.
Litigation
Litigation forms an important part of our compliance and
dispute resolution programme. In 2012, the Authority
was involved in both civil and criminal litigation in, the
Supreme Court, the High Court the Magistrates Court the
Revenue Appeals Tribunal and the Industrial Relations
Court.
Civil Litigation
Table 22 shows the extent of the tax related litigation that
the Authority experienced during the year under review. A
total of 60 civil cases were before the courts of law in
2012 compared to 85 cases in 2011. The majority of the
cases were in the High Court. The high number of cases
before the courts could be an indication that taxpayers
are aware of their right to seek redress on tax matters
whenever they feel aggrieved.

Table 22: Tax Related Litigation in 2012 and 2011
Type of Court
2012
2011
Magistrates Court
1
1
High Court
28
33
Supreme Court
10
7
Revenue Appeals Tribunal
13
40
Industrial relations court
8
4
60
85
Total Cases

Criminal Litigation
The total number of criminal cases prosecuted in 2012
rose to 35 from 15 in 2011. This represents an increase
of 133 percent over the period. However, the value of
cases taken to court declined to K3.5 billion from K4.2
billion in 2011 (see Table 24).
Table 24: Type of cases by tax type and values in 2012
Customs and Excise

Domestic Taxes

Cases closed by type

No
10

Value
(K’million)
990.0

No

Paid Tax

2

Value
(K’million)
1,771.7

Total
Value
Value
(K’million)
2,761.7

Withdrawn

2

30.0

0

0

Fine

2

3.7

0

0

30.0
3.7

Acquittal

1

690.0

0

0

690.0

Total
Pending cases in court

15

1,713.7

2

1,771.7

3,485.4

Year end – 2012
Total number of cases

18
33

9,250.4

0
2

0

9,250.4

Customs related prosecutions were 33 during the year,
representing about 94 percent of all the cases
prosecuted.
Fifteen (15) of these cases were
completed with the rest remaining in the pending status
at the end of the year. The total revenue realised from
customs prosecutions was K990.0 million in 2012
compared to K237.0 million in 2011. On the other hand,
domestic taxes related prosecutions during the year
were only two (2), with all resulting in tax settlement
valued at K1.8 billion compared to K3.9 billion in 2011.
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Managing People
During the year under review, the Authority's staff
complement stood at 1,355 employees compared to 1,
255 in 2011, representing an increase of 8 percent. The
increment in the staff complement is explained by
increases in the net staff complement of the Domestic
Taxes Division, Customs Services Division, Research
and Planning Department, Commissioner General's
office, Corporate Services Division, Human Resources
Department, Finance Division, Project Management
Department and Internal Audit Department. Similar to
2011, staff complement in 2012 was below the approved
establishment of 1, 482 and accounted for 91.4 percent
of the approved establishment compared to 91.1 percent
in 2011 (see Table 25).
Table 25: ZRA staff complement by Division /Department /Unit as at end 2012 and 2011
2012
Division / Unit
Commissioner General’s Office
Domestic Taxes
Customs Services
Corporate Services
Research and Planning
Human Resource
Finance & IT
Internal Audit
Investigations
Project Management
ZRAIC
Total

Actual
12
404
514
229
25
24
119
19
2
6
1
1,355

2011

Approved Actual
14
436
575
212
28
27
57
19
34
6
1
1,482

Approved

11
406
447
280
14
23
58
15
1
1,255

13
440
494
311
19
23
63
16
1
1,380

The Customs Services Division continued to be the
most staffed followed by the Domestic Taxes Division.
The Corporate Services Division had the largest
number of support staff.
People Strategy
In 2012, the Authority's people strategy again focused
on recognising and meeting the different needs of staff
in order to create a workforce that is skilled and
committed to meet the Authority's mandate. In addition,
the Authority is still in the process of reviewing the
human resource manuals to ensure that the Authority's
strategies meet the challenges of a dynamic economic
environment. To this end, the Authority reviewed the
Human Resource Administration Manual and the
Grievance and Disciplinary Procedures Code which
were under consideration by the Board at the close of
the year under review. In order to enhance employee
productivity, the Authority has in place plans to train
managers and supervisors in performance
management and evaluation.
Workforce Design
In terms of workforce design, the Authority has a
Resource and Training Manual in place which is a guide
on how ZRA implements its training programmes. In
this regard, the Training Manual was reviewed in 2012
to ensure that it meets the challenges of a dynamic
environment.
Skilling and learning

Table 26 shows ZRA staff complement broken down by
grade and gender in 2011 and 2012. The proportion of
female staff during the year stood at 31.0 percent
compared to 31.6 percent in 2011. There was a slight
increase the number of employees in all grades and
gender categories. Senior Management accounted for
1.3 percent of the workforce in 2012 compared to 1.2
percent in 2011. In 2012, 40.0 percent of the staff was in
the technical staff category, while the percentage in
2011 was 37.5 percent. Likewise, those in the middle
management category comprised 11.1 percent
compared to 11.2 percent in 2011. Support staff
comprised 47.5 percent in 2012 compared to 50.0
percent in 2011.
Table 26: ZRA employees by grade and gender in 2012 and 2011
Grades
Senior Management ZRA00
Senior Management ZRA01
Senior Management ZRA02
Middle Management ZRA03
Middle Management ZRA04
Technical Staff ZRA05
Technical Staff ZRA06
Support Staff ZRA07
Support Staff ZRA08
Support Staff ZRA09
Support Staff ZRA10
Total

Male
1
1
10
29
91
166
207
152
112
73
93
935

2012
Female
2
4
7
24
55
114
102
78
3
31
420

Male
1
1
8
31
83
160
164
132
108
74
96
858

2011
Female
0
2
3
8
19
46
101
114
68
3
33
397

Due to the complexity and diversity of our work, the
Authority committed significant resources to capacity
building which amounted to K2.1 billion in 2012. This
resulted in the successful implementation of the training
programmes with over 1,500 members of staff being
trained in the year 2012 compared to 576 in the year
2011.
Table 27 shows the number of staff trained during 2012,
classified according to gender. Overall, there was an
increase in the number of the training programmes and
this had an effect on the total number of employees
trained in year 2012 compared to the 2011 as stated
above.
The increase in the training activities was attributed to
the increased focus on Change Management and
technological developments arising from the
modernisation of the Authority's operations.
In terms of gender, 32.4 percent of total employees
trained were female. This is consistent with the
proportion of females in the institution which stands at
31.0 percent of the total workforce.
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Table 27: Staff Development in 2012
Type of Training
Induction Training
Performance Management and Development Process
Sensitis ation Training
Peer Education - Trainer of Trainers Training
Tax Treaty Interpretation Transfer Pricing, Thin
Capitalis ation and E -commerce
Filing Project Systems Specifications Sessions Workshop
Productivity Based Collective Bargaining and Needs -Based
Collective Bargaining Workshop
Management and Leadership Development for women in
Management
Pay As You Earn
Financial Model ling in Advanced Excel Training
Design and Mon itoring - New Audit Procedures W orkshop
Customer Service Excellence Workshop
Project Management Workshop
How to effectively Manage and Utilis e Production and Export
Data in the Mining Sector Training
Zambia Institute of Chartered Accountants - General
Conference
Income Tax Training
Norwegian Tax Administration - Audit Programme W orkshop
Basic Investigation Course
NETAPP Storage
Training of Trainers
Zambia Institute of Human Resources Management's Annual
General Meeting
SAP Workflow
Change Management Tr aining
Training of Customs Agents
Chartered Fund and Asset Management
Electronic Record Management Capacity Course
Customs Basic Course
Productivity Based Collective Bargaining
SAP Training
Advan ced Excel Training
Personal and I ntuitional Development Presentation for CEO's
Management Accounting Workshop
Zambia Institute of Human Resource - Annual Convention
and Workshop
Internal Audit Mid - Year review and Orientation a nd IT Audit
Training
Micro soft Project Training
COBIT Workshop
Inspection of Road Tank Vehicles Workshop
Understanding Performance Management - A Key Drive to
Competitive Advantage
Internal Audit Training
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Female
24
55

Male No. of Staff
Trained
69
45
125
70

2
4

1
15

3
19

6
2

11
2

17
4

2

0

2

9
4
18
1
20
7

24
6
22
3
24
11

33
10
40
4
44
18

1

3

4

13
4
6
0
4
1

21
8
9
1
11
3

34
12
15
1
15
4

0
35
48
0
0
6
2
0
3
1
0
0

3
126
64
2
3
19
1
2
5
0
2
2

3
161
112
2
3
25
3
2
8
1
2
2

5

14

19

10
5
0
1

15
10
5
0

25
15
5
1

2

3

5

US Treasury Department Training for Investigation

11

20

31

Project Management Workshop

10

15

25

2

11

13

11

9

20

TARPS Training

1

2

3

Business Continuity Workshop

2

10

12

Rules of Origin Training

0

1

1

CAAT Forensic Training

3

5

8

Training of ZRAIC Focal Point Personnel

7

12

19

COTECNA COTRACK DEMO - GPS System

3

16

19

Debt Collectors Training

4

10

14

Risk Management Workshop

6

14

20

Computer Aided Audit Techniques and Forensic Audit Technique s Training

8

15

23

Income Tax Training Programmes for Trainers

6

11

17

International Public Sector Accounting (IPSAS), Financial Statement Fraud
and Covariance
An Effective and Exceptional Board of Directors - Empowering the Board

2

0

2

1

0

1

International Accounting Standards Workshop

0

2

2

Exercise Management Training

6

8

14

Customs Basic Course

8

25

33

Capacity Building and Skill Development Workshop

4

4

8

Prince2 Training

7

19

26

CISCO Certified Network Associate

0

2

2

Security Certified Programme Training

0

1

1

The Econometric Panel Data Analysis Course

0

3

3

Inspectors Course

9

24

33

VAT Training

6

12

18

Information Technology Audit Training

3

16

19

78

204

282

499

1,037

1,536

IT COBIT Workshop
Microsoft Project Training

Performance Management and Development Process Sensitization
Training
Total number of employees trained
Funds Allocated for 2012

2,150,000.00

Funds Spent on training

1,810,025.00

Funds Spent on meetings but impacting on the Training Budget
Total expenditure of the Budget 2012
Balance (K' Billion)

159,743.00
1,969,768.00
180,232.00
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Performance Management and Development
Process
The Authority fully implemented the Performance
Management and Development Process (PMDP) for the
year under review.

From the 71 separations, 16 were female employees
whereas 55 were male employees. Further
classification shows that 22 employees were from the
Management category while 49 were unionised
employees.
Approach to HIV/AIDS

The results from Figure 27 represent the overall
performance of the Authority. It can be seen that 25.8
percent of the work force exceeded the performance
targets while 62.7 percent met their targets. Meanwhile,
11.1 percent of the workforce was not rated mainly
because they were not eligible for rating. Only 0.4
percent of the workforce did not meet their performance
targets. This shows that the majority of the employees in
the Authority are contributing positively and effectively to
the set objectives of the Authority. The results can
therefore be attributed to the Authority meeting its
targets.

Figure 27: Performance Management Development Contract Performance in 2012

The Authority has in place an HIV/AIDS Workplace
Programme which consist of two core areas namely
prevention and treatment. Under the prevention
programme the Authority provides psycho-social
counselling, testing and sensitisation workshops for all
staff. Further, HIV/AIDS information has been
incorporated in the Authority's induction programmes
for new staff members.
During the year under review, the Authority undertook a
number of prevention activities which included
HIV/AIDS sensitisation and VCT during the Agriculture
and Commercial Show in collaboration with Community
HIV/AIDS Mobilisation Project (CHAMP). The Authority
also participated in the launch of the 990 talk line by
CHAMP and USAID, where VCT and HIV/AIDS
sensitisation was conducted.
Under the treatment programme, the Authority
implemented the voluntary CSART which provides
treatment for its members of staff that require Anti-Retro
Viral Therapy. Membership into the scheme is open to
all members of staff regardless of their HIV status.
During the year, CSART had a total membership of 469
compared to 411 in 2011. This membership represented
34.6 percent of the total work force. A total of 80
members of staff and their families were receiving
treatment on CSART compared to 78 in 2011,
representing an increase of 2.5 percent.

Separation
A total of 71 employees separated from the Authority
between January 2012 and December 2012 compared
to 67 in 2011. Resignation, retirement and dismissal
continued to be the main reasons for staff turnover (see
Table 28).
An analysis of exit interviews done indicates that
resignations are mainly as a result of career progression
and better conditions of service elsewhere.
Table 28: Separations recorded in 2012
Dismissal Termination Contract Resignation Retirement Medical Death
of Contract Expiry
Discharge
2012
15
4
3
21
21
4
3
2011
15
2
2
22
19
1
6
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Total
71
67

Physical Assets and Information
Technology
Asset Management
The Authority disbursed K6.0 billion or 45 percent of the
total capital budget towards the refurbishment and
rehabilitation of infrastructure and equipment at various
stations (see Table 29).
In 2012, major works completed included the
establishment of a Central Processing Centre at Lusaka
Port; construction of a concrete driveway and drainage
at the Solwezi Office; electrical and building repairs at
Chirundu; alterations at Musonko cash office; and
rehabilitation and alteration works at the Kasama Office.
A total of K28.7 billion was spent on the acquisition of
new assets compared to K5.4 billion in 2011. Out of this
amount, K16.5 billion was spent on acquisition of ICT
equipment, office equipment and furniture. A further
K11.8 billion was spent on purchase of a total of 51 new
motor vehicles.

With respect to asset disposal, a total of K440.3 million
was realised from the disposal of used assets,
compared to K320.2 million in 2011. Of the amount
realised, K369.6 million was from the disposal of used
motor vehicles while K70.7 million was from the sale of
office equipment and furniture.
Information and Communication Technology
The Authority has prioritised the computerisation of all
its tax administration systems with the aim of reducing
the cost of compliance as well as enhancing revenue
collection. In this vein, the Authority procured 434
computers and laptops.
The Authority's expenditure on IT related capital
equipment increased to K8 billion from K4.2 billion in
2011. The recurrent expenditure on IT related
equipment was K10.7 billion in 2012 compared to
K13.4 billion in 2011.

Table 29: The value of major projects undertaken in 2012 (K' thousands)
Project Name
1

Central Processing Centre at
Lusaka Port Office
2
Rehabilitation and alteration works
at Kasama Office
3
Concrete driveway and drainage at
Solwezi DOMT Office
4
Alterations to Musonko Cash office
5
Electrical and building repairs to
Chirundu OSBP
6
Passenger shed at Chir undu OSBP
7
Five semi -detached staff house s at
Kasumbalesa
8
Six semi -detached staff houses at
Nakonde
9
Six semi -detached staff houses at
Chirundu
10 Installation of fire alarm system at
HQ, Revenue Hall, Livingstone,
Musonko and Nchanga House.
TOTAL
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Value

Amount
Paid

Amount
Outstanding

Status

362,267

355,706

6,561

Complete

150,000

150,000

0

Complete

530,000

268,476

261,524

Complete

165,805
542,682

0
0

165,805
542,682

Complete
Complete

450,000
3,240,000

0
1,843,140

450,000
1,396,860

On -going
On -going

3,588,855

1,557,665

2,031,190

On -going

3,578,878

1,854,049

1,724,829

On -going

888,868

On -going

888,868

13,497,355

0

6,029,036

7,468,319

Financial Management
Contents

Page

Statement of responsibilities of the Governing Board in respect of the preparation of the
financial statements

51

Independent auditor’s report

52

Statement of financial position

53

Statement of comprehensive income

54

Statement of changes in capital fund and reserves

55

Statement of cash flows

56

Notes to the financial statements

50

57 - 85

Zambia Revenue Authority

Statement of responsibilities of the Governing Board in respect of the preparation of the financial
statements
The Governing Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
comprising the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2012, the statements of comprehensive
income, changes in capital fund and reserves and of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the
financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Zambia Revenue
Authority Act, Chapter 321 of the Laws of Zambia.
The Governing Board is also responsible for such internal control as it determines necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and for
maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management.
The Governing Board has made an assessment of the ability of the Authority to continue as a going concern and
has no reason to believe that the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.
Approval of the financial statements
The financial statements of the Authority, as identified in the first paragraph, were approved by the Governing
Board on 7th June, 2013 and are signed on its behalf by:

………………………………
Director

………………………………
Director
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KPMG Chartered Accountants
First Floor Elunda Two
Addis Ababa Roundabout, Rhodespark
P.O. Box 31282, Lusaka, Zambia

Telephone: +260 211 372900
:
Website: www.kpmg.com

Independent auditor's report to the Governing Board of Zambia Revenue Authority
We have audited the financial statements of Zambia Revenue Authority (“the Authority”), which comprise the
statement of financial position at 31 December 2012, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in capital
fund and reserves and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements which include a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes as set out on pages 53 to 85.
The Governing Board's responsibility for the financial statements
The Authority's Governing Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Zambia Revenue
Authority Act, Chapter 321 of the Laws of Zambia, and for such internal control as the Governing Board determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
Auditor's responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the Governing Board, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Zambia
Revenue Authority as at 31 December 2012 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Zambia Revenue
Authority Act, Chapter 321 of the Laws of Zambia.

KPMG Chartered Accountants
Lusaka, Zambia

12th June 2013

Jason Kazilimani, Jr
Partner
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KPMG Chartered Accountants, a Zambian partnership, is a member
firm of the KPMG networks of independent member firms affiliated
with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a
Swiss entity. All rights reserved.

Partners:

A list of the partners available at the above mentioned
address

Statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2012
2012
K’000

Note
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Employee loans and advances

18
19
21

2011
K’000

138,465,763
669,615
2,774,631

126,798,027
920,720
1,296,853

141,910,009

129,015,600

24
21
22

90,871,862
5,871,897
8,942,553

50,734,618
3,712,310
6,192,721

23
20
28
29

8,760,607
4,060,450
1,517,853
37,106,124

8,760,607
2,668,204
5,104,742
39,697,901

Total current assets

157,131,346

116,871,103

Total assets

299,041,355

245,886,703

Capital fund, reserves and liabilities
Capital fund and reserves
Capital fund
Revaluation reserve

(110,011,775)
50,345,136

(81,280,565)
49,477,856

(59,666,639)

(31,802,709)

277,809,974
7,861,000

162,065,865
9,640,849

285,670,974

171,706,714

613,824
1,779,849
700,594
31,318,776
1,517,853
37,106,124

1,779,849
3,153,778
56,246,428
5,104,742
39,697,901

73,037,020

105,982,698

299,041,355

245,886,703

Total non - current assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Employee loans and advances
Other assets
Amounts receivable from the Government of the
Republic of Zambia
Inventories
Customs deposit bank accounts
Tax refunds bank accounts

Deficit on total capital fund and reserves
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Employee related liabilities
Deferred income
Total non -current liabilities
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft
Deferred income
Climate change grant
Trade and other payables
Customs deposit bank accounts
Tax refunds bank accounts
Total current liabilities
Total capital fund, reserves and liabilities

25
12

24
12
11
26
28
29

These financial statements were approved by the Governing Board on 7th June 2013 and were signed on its
behalf by:

…………………………………
Director

……………………………………
Director

The notes on pages 57 to 85 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2012
2012
K’000

2011
K’000

391,359,400
29,922,286
5,473,676
5,793,860
1,779,849

274,147,745
26,121,726
3,316,342
1,327,889
1,779,849

434,329,071

306,693,551

(379,492,789)
(32,028,366)
(44,835,129)
(11,192,870)

(234,699,390)
(23,361,476)
(52,841,912)
(10,430,476)

(33,220,083)

(14,639,703)

3,900,261
(464,108)

1,124,701
(84,671)

3,436,153

1,040,030

(29,783,930)

(13,599,673)

1,920,000
1,052,720

1,052,720

Note
Revenue
Government grants
Asycuda processing fees
Other income
Investment climate facility income
Amortisation of capital grant

8
9
10
11
12

Total operating income
Expenditure
Personnel expenses
Administrative expenses
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

13
14
15
18,19

Results from operating activities
Finance income
Finance costs
Net finance income
Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of revaluation reserve
Total other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

16

2,972,720
(26,811,210)

The notes on pages 57 to 85 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1,052,720
(12,546,953)

Statement of changes in capital fund and reserves
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Capital fund
K’000
Balance at 1 January 2011
Total comprehensive income for the year
- Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
- Amortisation of revaluation reserve

Revaluation
reserve
K’000

Total
K’000

(68,733,612)

50,530,576

(18,203,036)

(13,599,673)

-

(13,599,673)

1,052,720

(1,052,720)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

(12,546,953)

(1,052,720)

Balance at 31 December 2011

(81,280,565)

49,477,856

(31,802,709)

Balance at 1 January 2012

(81,280,565)

49,477,856

(31,802,709)

(29,783,930)

-

(29,783,930)

Total comprehensive income for the year
- Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
- Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
- Amortisation of revaluation reserve

Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 31 December 2012

(13,599,673)

1,052,720

1,920,000
(1,052,720)

1,920,000
-

1,052,720

867,280

1,920,000

(28,731,210)

867,280

(27,863,930)

(110,011,775)

50,345,136

(59,666,639)

Capital fund
The capital fund is the carried forward recognised income net of expenses of the Authority, plus the current
period results. The funds ultimately belong to the Govern ment of the Republic of Zambia.
Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve arises from the revaluation surplus on buildings. The revaluation reserves are
amortised to capital fund as the related assets are depreciated or disposed of.

The notes on pages 57 to 85 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2012
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Deficit for the year
Adjusted for:
Amortisation of climate change grant
Amortisation of capital grant
Depreciation and amortisation
Profit on sale of equipment
Net finance income
Employee related expenses

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

(29,783,930)

(13,599,673)

(5,793,860)
(1,779,849)
11,192,870
(121,830)
(3,436,153)
137,856,403

(1,327,889)
(1,779,849)
10,430,476
(94,661)
(1,040,030)
25,898,612

108,133,651

18,486,986

(1,392,246)
(3,637,365)
(2,749,832)
(24,927,652)
(22,112,295)

(132,459)
(97,598)
1,718,764
(4,304,035)
27,628,464
(9,775,895)

53,314,261

33,524,227

3,900,261
(21,214,022)
3,340,676
646,352

1,124,701
(5,387,903)
4,481,667
487,607

(13,326,733)

706,072

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

39,987,528

34,230,299

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

50,734,618

16,588,990

(464,108)

(84,671)

90,258,038

50,734,618

11
12
18,19
16
25

Operating cash flows before movement in working capital
Changes in inventories
Changes in employee loans and advances
Changes in amounts due from Government
Changes in other assets
Changes in trade and other payables
Changes in employee related liabilities
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Acquisition of property, plant and e quipment
Climate change grant received
Proceeds from sale of equipment

20
21
22
26
25

16
18
11

Net cash used in investing activities

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

24

The notes on pages 57 to 85 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1

Reporting entity
The Zambia Revenue Authority ("the Authority") was established by the Zambia Revenue Authority Act, Chapter
321 of the Laws of Zambia (the "Act"), to carry out the affairs of the former Customs and Excise Department and
the Department of Income Taxes. The Act, which came into effect on 1 April 1994, also transferred the assets and
liabilities of those former departments to the Authority.
The principal activities of the Authority are to:
§
assess, charge, levy and collect all revenue due to the Government of the Republic of Zambia ("the
Government") under such laws as the Minister of Finance may, by enacted legislation or statutory
instrument, specify; and
§
ensure that all revenue collected is, as soon as reasonably practicable, credited to the Government
Treasury.
The address of the Authority's registered office and principal place of business is:
Zambia Revenue Authority
Revenue House
Kabwe Roundabout
P.O. Box 35710
Lusaka

2

Basis of preparation

2.1

Statement of compliance
The Authority's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs), and in the manner required by the Zambia Revenue Authority Act, Chapter
321 of the Laws of Zambia.

2.2

Basis of measurement
The ﬁnancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following material
items in the statement of financial position:
§
employee loans and advances are measured at fair value on initial recognition and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment losses; and
§
the liability for the defined benefit obligation is recognised as the present value of the defined obligation
plus unrecognised actuarial gains, less unrecognised past service costs and unrecognised actuarial
losses.

2.3

Functional and presentation currency
These ﬁnancial statements are presented in Zambian Kwacha (“Kwacha”), which is the Authority's functional
currency. All financial information in Kwacha has been rounded off to the nearest thousand, except when
otherwise stated.
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2.4

Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of ﬁnancial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
Information about assumptions and estimations of uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in material
adjustment within the next financial period, and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:
§
3.8 (a)
Measurement of defined benefit obligations.
§
3.9
Provisions.
§
3.3
Estimate of asset lives, residual values and depreciation methods.

3

Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set below have been consistently applied by the Authority to all periods presented.

3.1

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Authority at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The
foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional
currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the
amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.2

Financial instruments
a)

Non-derivative financial assets
The Authority initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other
financial assets (including assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially
on the trade date, which is the date that the Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.
The Authority derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred
financial assets that is created or retained by the Authority is recognised as a separate asset or liability.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Authority has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The Authority classifies non – derivative financial assets into the loans and receivables category.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables as well as cash and cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or
less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are
used by the Authority in the management of its short term commitments.

b)

Non- derivative financial liabilities
The Authority initially recognises financial liabilities on the trade date at which the Authority becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Authority derecognises a financial liability when
its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. The Authority classifies non-derivative
financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Other financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables.
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3.3

Property, plant and equipment
a)

Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost or revaluation less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of selfconstructed assets includes the cost of material and direct labour and any other costs directly attributable
to bringing the assets to working condition for their intended use.
When parts of an item of property, plant or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
Leasehold land, capital work in progress and plant and equipment are carried at cost, whilst buildings and
motor vehicles are measured at revaluation less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
The fair value of buildings is determined from market based evidence by appraisal that is undertaken by
professional qualified valuers.
The revaluation reserves are amortised annually over the estimated period in which the Authority will enjoy
the benefit of the asset. This is done by transferring the annual amortisation from the revaluation reserve to
the capital fund.
Management assesses the fair values of buildings annually, however, it is the Authority's policy to revalue
buildings every five years. In instances where the changes in fair values become significant, the building
will be revalued in a period shorter than five years.
Any gains and losses on disposal of an item of plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between
the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss.

b)

Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Authority. On-going repairs and maintenance are expensed
as incurred.

c)

Depreciation
Items of plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are available for use or, in respect of
self-constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their
estimated residual values using the straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation is
generally recognised in profit or loss, unless the amount is included in the carrying amount of
another asset.
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is
reasonably certain that the Authority will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is
not depreciated.
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3.3

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
c)

Depreciation (continued)
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years of significant items of property, plant and
equipment are as follows:
Buildings
Office equipment, furniture, fixture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Scanners

2%
20%
25%
10%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate.
Expenditure on property, plant and equipment which is under construction is classified as Capital work-inprogress. Capital work in progress is not depreciated.
3.4

Leased assets
Assets held by the Authority which transfer to the Authority substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. On initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the
lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.
Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognised in the Authority's
statement of financial position.
Lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term
of the lease.

3.5

Intangible assets
a)

Software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and directly attributable costs.

b)

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset to which it relates.

c)

Amortisation
Computer software costs are amortised through profit or loss on a straight line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the software, from the date that it is available for use. The current estimated useful life
of software is three years. Costs associated with maintaining software are recognised as an expense
as incurred.
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3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.6

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average
method. Cost includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and other costs incurred in bringing them
to their existing location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

3.7

Impairment
a)

Non- derivative financial assets
A financial asset not classified as at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if
objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and
that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be
estimated reliably.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor,
restructuring of an amount due to the Authority on terms that the Authority would not consider otherwise,
indications that the debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for
a security.
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
The Authority considers evidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortised costs (loans
and receivables) at both a specific assets and collective level. All individual significant assets are
assessed for specific impairment. Those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively
assessed for any impairment by grouping together assets with similar risk characteristics.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an
allowance account against receivables. Interest on an impaired asset continues to be recognised.
When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss.

b)

Non-financial assets
The carrying amount of the Authority's non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated.
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3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.8

Employee benefits
a)

Defined benefit plan
The Authority operates a retirement benefit scheme which is of the nature of a defined benefit
scheme. Under the defined benefit scheme, the employees are entitled to retirement payment
based on the number of years worked and their terminal salaries at retirement. The liability
recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of the defined benefit plan is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date, together with adjustments for
unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is
calculated annually by independent actuaries, using the projected unit credit method. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by estimating the expected future
cash flows using interest rates on Government bonds which are denominated in the currency in
which the benefit will be paid, and have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the
related pension liability.
The Authority recognises all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans in profit
or loss and all related expenses related to personnel expenses in profit or loss.

b)

Defined contribution plan
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts.
Obligations for contributions to National Pension Scheme Authority (NAPSA) are recognised as
an expense in profit or loss when they are due.
Zambia Revenue Authority contributes to the NAPSA where the Authority pays an amount equal
to the employees' contributions. Employees contribute 5% of their gross earnings or a maximum
of K586,984 which ever is lower.

c)

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are
expensed as the related service is provided.
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus plans if
the Authority has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
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3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.8

Employee benefits (continued)
d)

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Authority is demonstrably committed,
without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to terminate employment before the
normal retirement date. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised if the Authority
has made an offer encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the
number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the
reporting date, they are discounted to their present value.

e)

Gratuity benefit
Employees on fixed term contracts are entitled to end of contract gratuity. Provision is made for past
service on the basis of past conditions of service and earnings.

3.9

Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Authority has a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the
discount is recognised as finance cost.

3.10 Revenue
(a)

Government revenue grants
Income represents the revenue grants receivable from the Government and other co-operating partners
during the year and is accounted for on an accruals basis. Government grants are recognised when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received and the Authority will comply with the conditions
associated with the grant.
Grants that compensate the Authority for expenses incurred are recognised in surplus or deficit as other
income on a systematic basis in the periods in which the expenses are recognised.

(b)

Capital grants
Capital grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value where there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and the Authority will comply with the conditions associated with the
grant, and are then recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as other income on a
systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.

(c)

Rental income
Rental income from properties is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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3.11 Finance income and finance costs
Finance income comprises interest income on bank deposits. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit
or loss, using the effective interest method.
Finance costs comprise interest expenses on borrowings.
Foreign currency gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities are reported on a net basis as either
finance income or finance cost depending on whether foreign currency movements are in net gain or net loss
position.
3.12 Fiduciary activities
The Authority acts in a fiduciary capacity that results in the holding of funds on behalf of the Government of
the Republic of Zambia. These funds are treated as assets with corresponding liabilities on the statement of
financial position.
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4

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for periods
beginning after 1 January 2012, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.
Those that may be relevant to the Authority are set out below. The Authority does not plan to adopt
these standards early.
Effective date

Standard, Amendment or
Interpretation

Summary of Requirements

1 July 2012

Amendment to IAS 1
Presentation of Financial
Statements

The Authority will present those items of
other comprehensive income that may be
reclassified to profit or loss in the future
separately from those that would never be
reclassified to profit or loss. This is a
change in presentation and will have no
impact on the recognition or measurement
of items in the financial statements.
The amendment will be applied
retrospectively and the comparative
information will be restated.

1 January 2015

IFRS 9 (2009): Financial
Instruments

IFRS 9 addresses the initial measurement
and classification of financial assets and will
replace the relevant sections of IAS 39.
Under IFRS 9 there are two options in
respect of classification of financial assets,
namely, financial assets measured at
amortised cost or at fair value. Financial
assets are measured at amortised cost
when the business model is to hold assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows
and when they give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal outstanding. All
other financial assets are measured at fair
value. Embedded derivatives are no longer
separated from hybrid contracts that have a
financial asset host.
The impact of the adoption of the
standard on the financial statements has
not yet been determined.
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New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)
Effective date

Standard, Amendment or
Interpretation

Summary of Requirements

1 January 2015

IFRS 9 (2010): Financial
Instruments

IFRS 9 (2010) addresses the
measurement and classification of financial
liabilities and will replace the relevant
sections of IAS 39. Under IFRS 9 (2010),
the classification and measurement
requirements of financial liabilities are the
same as per IAS 39, except for the following
two aspects: fair value changes for financial
liabilities (other than financial guarantees
and loan commitments) designated at fair
value through profit or loss, that are
attributable to the changes in the credit risk
of the liability will be presented in other
comprehensive income (OCI). The
remaining amount of the fair value change
is recognised in profit or loss. However, if
this requirement creates or enlarges an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss, then
the whole fair value change is presented in
profit or loss. The determination as to
whether such presentation would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch is made on
initial recognition and is not subsequently
reassessed. Under IFRS 9 (2010) derivative
liabilities that are linked to and must be
settled by delivery of an unquoted equity
instrument whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured, are measured at fair
value. IFRS 9 (2010) incorporates, the
guidance in IAS 39 dealing with fair value
measurement and accounting for
derivatives embedded in a host contract that
is not a financial asset, as well as the
requirements of IFRIC 9 Reassessment of
Embedded Derivatives.
The impact on the financial statements
has not yet been determined.
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New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)

Effective date

Standard, Amendment or
Interpretation

Summary of Requirements

1 January 2013

IFRS 13: Fair Value
Measurement

IFRS 13 introduces a single source of
guidance on fair value measurement for
both financial and non-financial assets
and liabilities by defining fair value,
establishing a framework for measuring
fair value and setting out disclosures
requirements for fair value
measurements. The key principles in
IFRS 13 are as follows:
- Fair value is an exit price.
- Measurement considers characteristics
of the asset or liability and not entityspecific characteristics.
- Measurement assumes a transaction
in the entity’s principle (or most
advantageous) market between market
participants.
- Price is not adjusted for transaction
costs.
- Measurement maximises the use of
relevant observable inputs and
minimises the use of unobservable
inputs.
- The three -level fair value hierarchy is
extended to all fair value measurements.
- The impact on the financial statements
has not yet been determined.

1 January 2013

IAS 19 Employee Benefits
(2011)

IAS 19 (2011) changes the definition of
short-term and long-term employee
benefits to clarify th e distinction between
the two.
For defined benefit plans the removal
of the accounting policy choice for
recognition of actuarial gains and losses
is not expected to have any impact on
the Authority.
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5

Determination of fair values
A number of the Authority's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about the
assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.
(a)

Building and motor vehicles
The fair value of buildings and motor vehicles is based on the market approach using the quoted market
prices for similar items when available and depreciated replacement cost when appropriate. Depreciated
replacement cost reflects adjustments for physical deterioration as well as functional and economic
obsolescence.

(b)

Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivable is estimated as the present value of future cash flows,
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date, unless the impact of discounting would be
immaterial in which case they are stated at cost. This fair value is determined for disclosure purposes.

6

Financial risk management
The Authority has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
§
credit risk,
§
liquidity risk, and
§
market risk.
This note presents information about the Authority's exposure to each of the above risks and the Authority's
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the Authority's management of Capital.
Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.
Risk management framework
The Governing Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Authority's risk
management framework. The Governing Board has established a Risk Management Committee, which is
responsible for developing and monitoring the Authority's risk management policies. The committee reports
regularly to the Governing Board.
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6

Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framework (continued)
The Authority's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Authority,
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies
and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Authority's activities. The
Authority, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and
constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Governing Board oversees how management monitors compliance with the Authority's risk management
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks
faced by the Authority. The Authority's Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal
Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of
which are reported to the Audit Committee.
(a)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Authority if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Authority's cash and bank balances and loans
and receivables.
The credit risk on loans and receivables mainly arises from employees who have left the Authority. The
Authority mitigates this risk by ensuring that before an employee leaves, all outstanding loans are
deducted from the employee's benefits payable to the employee. An allowance of impairment is raised for
amounts not recoverable.

(b)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Authority will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Authority's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Authority's reputation.
The Authority manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities.
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Financial risk management (continued)
(c)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates
will affect the Authority’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.
(i) Currency risk
The Authority undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies.
Hence, exposures are managed w ithin approved policy parameters as approved by the
Governing Board. Exposure to currency risk is not significant.
(ii) Interest rate risk
The Authority is not exposed to interest rate risk as the Authority uses funds received
from the Government for its operations.

7

Capital management
The Authority prepares an annual budget at the end of the year which is approved by the Governing
Board. The Authority is then funded based on the approved budget.
Monthly management reports are prepared by management expl aining any discrepancies between
the budgeted cost and the actual cost which is closely monitored by the Governing Board on a
quarterly basis.

8

Government grants

Annual budgetary allocation
Supplementary funding

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

386,509,400
4,850,000

266,399,613
7,748,132

391,359,400

274,147,745

Included in supplementary funding is K3.1 billion relating to additional funding for Kasumbalesa
border, which was handed over to the Authority during the year (2011:K5.9 billion in respect of
litigation support).
9

Asycuda processing fees

Administration costs
Asycuda professing fees
Scanner maintenance fees

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

3,291,452
16,158,034
10,472,800

2,873,390
14,105,732
9,142,604

29,922,286

26,121,726

Asycuda processing fees are derived from the charge of K50,040 per transaction for the processing of
imported goods at the borders. This income is partly used to maintain the scanners that process imported
goods. Other costs incurred include professional fees paid to N ecor and administration costs.
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Other income
2012
K’000

2011
K’000

2,602,996
1,475,382
121,830
1,273,468

1,547,093
1,296,860
94,661
377,728

5,473,676

3,316,342

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

Investment Climate Facility funding

5,793,860

1,327,889

At beginning of year

3,153,778

4,481,667

Receipts during the year
Recognised in statement of comprehensive income

3,340,676
(5,793,860)

(1,327,889)

Cigarette stamps sales
Sundry income
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Rental income
11

Investment Climate Facility

At year end

700,594

3,153,778

329,324
371,270

1,427,036
1,726,742

700,594

3,153,778

Broken down as follows:
Investment Climate Facility (ICF)
Norwegian Tax Administration (NTA)

In December 2012, the Authority received technical assistance funding from the Royal Norwegian
government for strengthening mining tax administration.
In the year under review, the Authority received financial support from Investment Climate Facility for
Africa (ICF) in implementing an integrated Tax Administration System with E-Registration, E-filing and
E-Payment options.
12

Deferred income
2012
K’000

2011
K’000

11,420,698
(1,779,849)

13,200,547
(1,779,849)

At year end

9,640,849

11,420,698

Current
Non-current

1,779,849
7,861,000

1,779,849
9,640,849

9,640,849

11,420,698

At beginning of year
Recognised in statement of comprehensive income

In December 2007, the Authority received a capital grant from the Government of the Republic of
Zambia for the procurement, installation and operation of specialist scanning equipment. The
equipment is used for non -intrusive inspection of cargo an d is currently installed at the Chirundu and
Livingstone border posts. The equipment was purchased and brought into use in June 2008.
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Personnel expenses

Basic pay
Housing allowance
Bonus
Overtime
Leave pay
Other allowances
Employee benefit expenses
NAPSA
Staff welfare and professional subscriptions
Medical expenses
Staff benefit adjustment
Insurance
Training

14

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

117,287,558
39,498,690
10,427,540
9,518,624
8,527,549
59,848,102
115,744,108
7,623,383
1,984,119
3,544,152
3,514,434
1,974,530

95,574,367
34,867,474
8,979,004
10,277,606
16,560,780
50,061,781
2,318,933
6,259,880
1,664,900
3,084,997
18,644
2,995,926
2,035,098

379,492,789

234,699,390

Administrative expenses

Repairs and maintenance - buildings
Postage and telephones
Printing and stationery
Subscriptions and publications
Travel expenses
Electricity, water and rates
Office rentals
Insurance
Corporate social responsibility
Board expenses
Bank charges
Bad debts
Audit expenses
Advertising and public relations
Staff uniforms
Motor vehicle repairs
Motor vehicle insurance and licence
Fuel

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

3,514,510
1,871,264
2,260,788
2,579,263
4,259,576
987,124
973,088
92,543
178,313
1,223,627
523,100
579,590
3,897,677
1,868,364
2,611,979
1,274,374
3,333,186

2,124,215
3,392,404
1,999,747
671,381
3,467,510
934,178
550,937
713,479
666,937
383,985
632,835
238,817
532,440
1,252,855
44,095
1,520,332
1,269,994
2,965,335

32,028,366

23,361,476
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Operating expenses

Asycuda processing fees
Other professional fees
Scanner operations
Field work - fuel
Security
Repairs and maintenance - IT
Cigarette stamps
Travel/relocation
Printing and stationery
Legal and professional expenses
Advertising/promotional material, conferences and seminars

16

2011
K’000

10,621,157
314,789
545,121
4,009,346
5,174,729
10,745,624
1,697,316
7,438,780
997,831
2,229,550
1,060,886

16,930,100
501,772
4,472,589
2,229,691
5,141,521
13,429,149
812,709
6,354,219
750,885
1,759,173
460,104

44,835,129

52,841,912

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

3,900,261

1,124,701

Net financing income

Interest income
Net exchange losses
Net financing income
17

2012
K’000

(464,108)
3,436,153

(84,671)
1,040,030

Taxation
The Zambia Revenue Authority is a statutory body exempt from income tax, in accordance with the
Second Schedule of the Income Tax Act - Chapter 323 of the Laws of Zambia, paragraph 5.
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Property, plant and equipment
Buildings

K’000

Plant and
office
equipment
K’000

Motor
vehicles
K’000

Furniture
fixtures
and fittings
K’000

Capital
work in
progress

Total

K’000

K’000

Cost/valuation
At 1 January 2011
Additions
Disposals
Transfer of cost of
intangible asset
Write off of CWIP
previously impaired
Transfers
At 31 December 2011

108,612,892
-

51,111,613
2,835,361
(363,181)

20,692,268
2,027,086
(2,024,635)

4,968,818
525,456
(8,744)
-

5,698,771
-

191,084,362
5,387,903
(2,396,560)

-

(1,255,527)

-

(1,225,527)

359,936
108,972,828

52,328,266

20,694,719

5,485,530

(5,338,835)
(359,936)
-

(5,338,835)
187,511,343

At 1 January 2012
Additions
Revaluation
Disposals

108,972,828
-

52,328,266
4,589,689
(255,685)

20,694,719
11,849,728
1,920,000
(1,708,305)

5,485,530
819,911
(420,554)

3,954,694
-

187,481,343
21,214,022
1,920,000
(2,384,544)

31 December 2012

108,972,828

56,662,270

32,756,142

5,884,887

At 1 January 2011
Charge for the year
Reversal on write-off of
CWIP fully impaired
Disposals

4,210,257
2,179,457

30,489,188
4,196,744

13,477,271
3,334,704

3,761,339
468,466

At 31 December 2011

6,389,714

34,322,751

15,749,790

4,221,061

-

60,683,316

At 1 January 2012
Charge for the year
Disposals

6,389,714
2,179,457
-

34,322,751
4,497,590
(91,013)

15,749,790
3,696,764
(1,368,170)

4,221,061
567,954
(400,840)

-

60,683,316
10,941,765
(1,860,023)

At 31 December 2012

8,569,171

38,729,328

18,078,384

4,388,175

-

69,765,058

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2012

100,403,657

17,932,942

14,677,758

1,496,712

3,954,694

138,465,763

At 31 December 2011

102,583,114

18,005,515

4,944,929

1,264,469

-

3,954,694

208,230,821

Accumulated
depreciation and
impairment losses

-

(363,181)

(1,062,185)

(8,744)

5,338,835
(5,338,835)
-

-

57,276,890
10,179,371
(5,338,835)
(1,434,110)

126,798,027

The Authority holds title to Revenue House and six other properties. However, the Government holds title to the other
properties transferred to the Authority in 1994, pursuant to section 4 (1) (b) of the Zambia Revenue Authority Act - Chapter
321 of the Laws of Zambia.
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The fair value of Buildings is determined from market-based evidence by appraisal that is undertaken
by independent professional valuers. B.A. Property Consultants, registered valuation surveyors
revalued buildings on 31 December 2008 for existing use. The resulting revaluation surplus of K52
billion was credited to the revaluation reserve.
At the reporting date, management revalued the motor vehicles that were fully depreciated, but were
still in use to their estimated fair values using market values for similar vehicles. The resulting surplus
of K1,920 million has been credited to revaluation reserves.
The revaluation reserves are amortised annually over the estimated period in which the Authority will
enjoy the benefit of the asset. This is done by transferring the annual amortisation from the revaluation
reserve to the capital fund. The next revaluation is scheduled for 2013.
The Authority recognised land at cost on initial recognition and opted to adopt the cost model on
subsequent measurement. Land is a separate asset class and the Authority has continued to measure
the value of land at its nominal value.
Directors assess the fair values of buildings annually; however, it is the Authority's policy to revalue
buildings every five years. In instances where the changes in fair values become significant, the
building will be revalued in a period shorter than five years.
If the property, plant and equipment were stated at historical cost basis, the cost, accumulated
depreciation and carrying amount would have been as follows:
Buildings
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K’000

Motor
vehicles
K’000

Total
K’000

2011
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount

30,397,183
4,863,549
25,533,634

5,021,258
5,021,258
-

35,418,441
9,884,807
25,533,634

2012
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

30,397,183
5,471,493

5,021,258
5,021,258

35,418,441
10,492,751

Carrying amount

24,925,690

-

24,925,690

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Intangible assets
Software
K’000
Cost
At 1 January 2011

1,255,527

At 31 December 2011

1,255,527

At 1 January 2012

1,255,527

At 31 December 2012

1,255,527

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2011
Charge for the year

83,702
251,105

At 31 December 2011

334,807

At 1 January 2012
Charge for the year

334,807
251,105

At 31 December 2012

585,912

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2012

669,615

At 31 December 2011

920,720

The amortisation of software is allocated to depreciation and amortisation in the statement of
comprehensive income
20

Inventories
2012
K’000

2011
K’000

Stationery
Cigarette stamps
Uniforms
Other consumables

561,807
1,661,954
1,811,081
25,608

622,409
1,593,291
406,772
45,732

At 31 December

4,060,450

2,668,204

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the period was K3.5 billion (2011: K2.8
billion).
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Employee loans and advances
Employee loans and advances at the reporting date were as follows:
2012
K’000

2011
K’000

Employee loans and advances

8,646,528

5,009,163

Current assets
Non – current assets

5,871,897
2,774,631

3,712,310
1,296,853

Total employee loans and advances

8,646,528

5,009,163

Employee loans and advances
Total loans receivables (net of allowances) held by the Authority at 31 December 2012 amounted to K8.6
billion (2011: K5 billion), comprising loans and advances to employees.
Loans and advances are considered to be non - derivative financial assets as they have fixed and
determinable conditions attached to repayment and are not quoted in an active market.
The annual interest rates on employees loans in accordance with conditions of service is 5% for all loans.
The employee loans and advances are discounted using a market related rate.
For mortgage loans, the Authority holds on to the title deeds of employees’
loan is fully repaid.

property as security until the

The make-up of employee loans and advances at the reporting date was as follows:
2012
K’000

2011
K’000

Home ownership loans
Other loans
Vehicle ownership loans
Personal loans

2,587,521
4,178,663
1,337,202
543,142

399,760
3,019,680
1,507,753
320,787

Gross advances
Allowances for impairment

8,646,528
-

5,247,980
(238,817)

Loans and advances net of allowances for impairment

8,646,528

5,009,163

Movement in the allowance for impairment:
At beginning of the year
Impairment loss recognised
Bad debts written off

(238,817)
238,817

(238,817)
-

-

(238,817)

At year end
Aging of impaired loan receivables

There were no employee loans and advances which were impaired or more than 120 days in 2012 (2011:
K 239 million were impaired and more than 120 days).
Impaired loans are loans which the Authority determines that it is probable that it will be unable to collect
all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan.
No loans and receivables were past due date and impaired in 2012, (2011: K239 million).
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Other assets

Other receivables
Prepayments
Union Bank Zambia Limited (in Liquidation)

Impairment for Union Bank balances
23

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

6,253,214
2,689,339
15,976

6,139,460
53,261
15,976

8,958,529
(15,976)

6,208,697
(15,976)

8,942,553

6,192,721

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

8,760,607

8,760,607

Amount receivable from Government

Amount receivable from Government of the Republic of Zambia

The amount receivable from Government relates to Government funding of K8.7 billion (2011: K8.7
billion). Receipt of th is amount is considered to be imminent and is dependent upon the outcome of
ongoing litigation. It has therefore been classified as a current asset.
24

Cash and cash equivalents

Held in:
Zambia National Commercial Bank Plc
Access Bank Zambia Limited
Finance Bank Zambia Limited
Bank of Zambia
Cash on hand
Bank overdraft:
Bank of Zambia

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

82,794,058
1,474,946
6,273,696
329,162

23,687,473
24,422,189
893,678
1,509,871
221,407

90,871,862

50,734,618

(613,824)

-

90,258,038

50,734,618

The reported overdraft on Bank of Zambia at year end was a result of timing differences on transfer of
funds within the Authority’s cash books and no actual money was overdrawn from the bank’s position.
25

Employee benefits
2012
K’000
End of contract gratuity
Leave pay
Retirement benefits

Of which:
Current (note 26)
Non-current

2011
K’000

46,744,027
16,913,277
231,065,947

28,899,645
11,406,450
133,166,220

294,723,251

173,472,315

16,913,277
277,809,974

11,406,450
162,065,865

294,723,251

173,472,315
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Employee benefits (continued)
Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations
End of contact
2012
2011

Retirement benefits
2012
2011

Total
2012

2011

Defined benefit obligations at 1 January
Benefits paid by the plan
Service costs
Interest cost
Actuarial (gains)losses in comprehensive
income

28,899,645
(15,537,993)
17,708,939
5,501,158
2,976,059

52,517,094 133,166,220 95,404,250 162,065,865 147,921,344
(6,574,302) (1,826,262) (22,112,295) (11,754,091)
(9,927,829)
10,334,673
13,113,227
1,458,024 28,243,612 14,571,251
19,644,993
7,102,995
1,905,433 25,146,151
9,008,428
81,490,582 (27,672,806) 84,466,641
29,991,739
2,318,933

Defined benefit obligation at end of year

39,747,808

92,797,226

238,062,166

69,268,639 277,809,974 162,065,865

Expense recognised in surplus or deficit

Service costs
Interest in obligation
Actuarial (gain)/losses recognised

End of contact
2011
2012
17,708,939
13,113,227
5,501,158
7,102,995
2,976,059
29,991,739
26,386,156

50,207,961

Retirement benefits
2012
2011
10,334,672
1,458,024
19,644,993
1,905,433
81,490,582 (27,672,806)
111,490,247

Total
2012
2011
28,243,611 14,571,251
25,146,151
9,008,428
84,466,641
2,318,933

(24,309,349) 137,856,403

25,898,612

Actuarial assumptions
The following are the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages):

Discount rate at 31 December
Future salary increases

2012

2011

16.6 %
14.1 %

14%
11%

The actuarial valuation was done using the projected unit method as per IAS 19, Employee Benefits requirements.
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Trade and other payables
2012
K’000
Trade payables
Border examination fees
Leave pay
Accrued expenses

27

2011
K’000

6,339,773

6,126,324

16,913,277

13,639,783

8,065,726

25,073,871

31,318,776

56,246,428

11,406,450

Financial instruments
(a)

Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the reporting date was:
Carrying amount

Cash and cash equivalents

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

90,871,862

50,734,618

Other assets

6,253,214

6,139,460

Employee loans and advances

8,646,417

5,009,163

105,771,493

61,883,241

Total

Collateral is held for employee loans and advances relating to home ownership and car loans. All other loans are full y
insured.
At reporting date, there were no loans past due nor impaired.
(b)

Liquidity risk
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities including estimated interest payments and, excluding
the impact of netting agreements:
Residual contractual maturities of financial liabilities

Carrying
amount

Contractual Due within
cash flow 3 months

Due
between
3 - 12
months

31,318,776

31,318,776 31,318,776

-

Due
between
1 - 5 years

Due after 5
years

-

-

31 December 2012
Non-derivative liabilities
Trade and other payables
Employee benefits

277,809,974

277,809,974

-

10,484,885 173,295,768

94,028,598

Total financial liabilities

309,128,750

309,128,750 31,318,776

10,484,885 173,295,768

94,028,598

31 December 2011
Non-derivatives liabilities
Trade payables

6,126,324

6,126,324

6,126,324

-

-

-

Employee benefits

162,065,865

162,065,865

-

-

28,899,644

133,166,221

Total financial liabilities

168,192,189

168,192,189

6,126,324

-

28,899,644

133,166,221

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly
different amounts.
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Financial instruments (continued)
(c)

Currency risk
Exposure to currency risk
The Authority’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts:
2012
Zmk

GBP

2011
USD

Total

Zmk

GBP

USD

Total

-

-

-

At 31
December
Assets
Other assets
Total assets

-

-

-

-

-

Liabilities
Trade and
other payables

-

-

-

-

-

59,163

493,646

552,809

Total liabilities

-

-

-

-

-

59,163

493,646

552,809

Net exposure

-

-

-

-

- (59,163) (493,646)

(552,809)

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:
Reporting date
mid spot rate

USD1.00 to ZMK
GBP1.00 to ZMK
(d)

2012

2011

5,200
8,500

5,110
7,874

Fair values versus carrying amounts
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the
statement of financial position are as follows:
2012
Carrying
amount
Other assets
Employee benefits
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Employee loans and
advances
Bank overdraft

2011
Carrying amount
Fair value

8,942,554
(277,809,974)
90,871,862
(31,318,776)

8,942,554
(277,809,974)
90,871,862
(31,318,776)

8,646,417
(613,824)

8,646,417
(613,824)

(201,281,741)

(201,281,741)

Fair value
6,192,721
6,192,721
(162,065,865) (162,065,865)
50,734,618
50,734,618
(56,246,428) (56,246,428)
5,009,163
-

5,009,163
-

(156,375,791) (156,375,791)

Except for the employee benefits and loans that ar e discounted, all the other balances are short term in
nature and their carrying amounts approximate their fair values, due to the immaterial impact of
discounting.
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Customs deposits bank accounts

Customs deposits bank accounts

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

1,517,853

5,104,742

The Customs deposits bank accounts relate to monies held on behalf of importers pending
assessments. The Customs and Ex cise Act, Chapter 322 of the Laws of Zambia requires
that after 30 days any monies not refunded to importers be entreated to the Government.
The corresponding liability to refund importers is included as a payable.
29

Tax refunds bank accounts

Value Added Tax (VAT) refund
Customs refund
Income tax refund

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

26,082,671
8,929,411
2,094,042

30,382,055
7,111,952
2,203,894

37,106,124

39,697,901

The tax refunds bank accounts relate to monies from the Government being amounts
payable to tax payers on their claims for tax paid. The corresponding liability to refund tax
payers is shown as a payable.
30

Contingent liabilities
There were legal proceedings outstanding against the Authority, which were awaiting
ruling/judgment by the courts of law as at 31 December 2012.
In the opinion of the Governing Board, these claims and lawsuits in aggregate will not have a
significant adverse effect on the financial statements. All tax related litigation claims will be
funded by the Government if they materialise.

31

Capital commitments

Approved and contracted capital expenditure

2012
K’000

2011
K’000

14,462,683

5,387,903

The approved and contracted capital expenditure will be met through Government funding.
Normal capital ex penditure is funded through the normal funding and only specific capital
funding is deferred income.
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Operating lease arrangements
Leases as lessor
Operating leases relate to buildings owned by the Authority with lease durations of 1 year, renewable. All
operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option
to renew. The lessee does not have an option to purchase the properties at the expiry of the lease period.
The rental income earned by the Authority during the year from its buildings, which are leased out under
operating leases amounted to K1.3 billion (2011: K378 million). At the end of the reporting period, the
future minimum receipts within 12 months under non-cancellable operating leases receivable in 2013 are
estimated at K2.4 billion
2012
2011
K’000
K’000
Less than one year
1,300,000
378,000
The increase in rentals receivable in 2013 is due to the rentals from Mpendwa house and Chirundu.
Leases as lessee
The Operating lease expense relate to rentals the Authority pays to owners of office spaces with similar
terms as above. Since the landlords only transfer the right to use the property to the Authority and retain all
risks of ownership, the lease expense is treated as an operating expense in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income and the said lease does not affect the Statement of Financial Position.
The rental expense incurred by the Authority during the year on buildings, which are rented under operating
leases amounted to K973 million (2011: K550 million). At the end of the reporting period, the future
minimum payment under non-cancellable operating leases payable in 2013 is estimated at K642 million.

Less than one year

2012
K’000
973,000

2011
K’000
550,000

This reduction is as a result of savings from rentals at Development House in Ndola following acquisition of
Mpendwa house from Zambia State Insurance Pension Trust Fund (ZSIPTF) in February, 2013.
33

Related parties
In the context of the Authority, related party transactions include any transactions made by any of the
following:

§
Members of the Governing Board and key management personnel.
The transactions to be reported are those that affect the Authority in making financial and operating
decisions. Examples of such transactions include:
-

loans to key management personnel;
procurement and investment contracts; and
the disposal of assets.

The Authority undertakes to disclose the nature of related party relationships, types of transactions
necessary for the understanding of the annual financial statements.
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Related parties (continued)
Transactions
The effect of related party transactions on the results for the year is as follows:
Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of Commissioners, Directors and other members of key management is determined by the
Governing Board having regard to Government funding received and market trends.
The remuneration of Commissioners, Directors and other members of key management during the year
was as follows:
2012
2011
K’000
K’000
Salaries and allowances
Post-employment benefits
Sitting allowances

10,268,107
2,633,801
870,000

7,929,098
3,663,915
383,985

13,771,908

11,976,998

Amounts receivable from the Government
The amounts receivable from the Government of the Republic of Zambia are disclosed in note 23.
34

Subsequent events
Rebasing of the Zambian Kwacha
The Government of the Republic of Zambia through the Re-Denomination Act No 8 of 2012 rebased the
national currency effective 1 January 2013. Consequently, the Bank of Zambia set 1 January 2013 as the
changeover date when the rebased currency would become legal tender.
Currency rebasing involved dividing the old currency unit by a denominator of one thousand. The changeover
date deadline was met by the Authority.
There were no other material events subsequent to the reporting date that would require disclosure or
adjustment to, these financial statements.

35

Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been changed where necessary to improve the comparability of information
as follows:
Employee
related
liabilities
K’000

Trade and
other
payables
K’000

Balances at 31 December 2011 as previously reported
Reclassification

173,472,315
(11,406,450)

44,839,978
11,406,450

Restated balance at 31 December 2011

162,065,865

56,246,428

Employee
related
liabilities
K’000

Trade and
other
payables
K’000

Balances at 31 December 2011 as previously reported
Reclassification

23,160,541
(11,406,450)

16,222,014
11,405,450

Restated balance at 31 December 2011

11,754,091

27,628,464

Statement of financial position

Statement of cash flows
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The Taxpayer Charter and Obligations of the taxpayer
Our Service standards
Service
Tax Registration
VAT Refund
Income Tax Refund
Customs Refund (Duty
Drawback, General, Estreated
deposits)
Customs Deposit Refund
(except refund for estreated
deposits)
Customs Declaration
Tax Clearance Certificate
Service Efficiency
Fairness
Information
Acknowledge comments and
complaints
Respond to comments and
complaints
Privacy
Performance Reporting

Standard
We undertake to complete the process within 3 days.
We undertake to pay the refund within 30 days from the date of
lodgement of a VAT refund claim .
We undertake to pay the refund within 45 days of
submission of
lodgement of an income tax return.
We undertake to pay the refund within 30 days from the date of
lodgement.
We undertake to pay the refund within 48 hours of the submission of
a refund claim.
We undertake to process a clean customs declaration within 1.5
days.
We shall issue a tax clearance within 48 hours upon receipt of an
application.
We undertake to attend to clients within 20 minutes of their arrival at
the Customer Service Centre.
We undertake to allow our clients their right to appeal; inform them
of their rights and obligations and treat them equitably, and in
accordance with the law.
We undertake to provide clear information on tax matters.
We undertake to acknowledge c omments, complaints and queries
within 5 working days of their receipt.
We undertake to respond to all comments complaints and queries
within 14 days of their referral to the appropriate manager.
We shall treat tax matters with privacy and confidentiality.
We shall publish information about our performance against these
targets four times a year.

Taxpayers’ Obligations
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Cooperate with ZRA officers at all times.
Submit tax returns and pay taxes on time.
Provide honest and accurate information to ZRA, including current contact addresses.
Demand an official ZRA receipt on all payments.
Do not offer ZRA officers any payments other than those authorised by the law.

Contact:
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For staff related issues:

For advice and general information:

ZRAIC Secretariat,
Zambia Revenue Authority,
P. O. Box 35710,
Kalambo Road,
Lusaka- Zambia.
Email: zraic@zra.org.zm
Tel: +260-211-237336
Fax: +260-211-237336
Mobile: +260-978-701-701

The Call/Advice Centre
Zambia Revenue Authority.
P. O. Box 35710,
Kalambo Road,
Lusaka- Zambia.
Email: advice@zra.org.zm
Tel: +260-211-381111
Mobile: +260-971-281111

ZRA Corporate values
The Authority is guided by the following values that assist to meet taxpayer expectations.
Integrity

Exhibiting the highest standards of personal probity and behaviour.

Professionalism

Performing official duties with skill, care and diligence and provide the public with service
and advice in a professional manner.

Fairness

Performing official duties in an impartial manner free of political, personal or other bias.

Equity

Treating all taxpayers, colleagues and members of the public equitably in accordance with
the provisions of legislation and procedure in force.

Courtesy

Treating all taxpayers, colleagues and members of the public with courtesy and being
sensitive to their rights, duties and aspirations.

Team work

Working as a team, not only to reinforce each other's' divisional functions, but also at
collegiate level in order to strengthen mutual confidence and trust.

Value for Money

Avoiding wastage and extravagant use of resources.

Confidentiality

Upholding the highest level of secrecy in respect of information that comes to one's
knowledge in the course of duty.

Goal orientation

Focusing on the development and achievement of personal and organisational
goals in the course of duty.

Innovation

Consistently improving on quality, quantity, timeliness and cost.
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